

## **Faculty of Science**

# Novel One-Pot Synthesis of Hydrazone Derivatives Via

## Zirconocyclopentene Intermediates

تحضير مبتكر لمشتقات الهيدرازون بخطوة واحدة عبر مركبات زركونيوم-البنتين

الحلقي كوسيط

This thesis was submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Master's Degree in Applied Chemistry, Birzeit University, Palestine

Haneen Sadi - 1205051

Supervisor: Ghassan Albarghouti

2023/2024

## Novel One-Pot Synthesis of Hydrazone Derivatives Via

## **Zirconocyclopentene Intermediates**

## Haneen Sadi

This thesis was defended successfully on 15/2/2024 and approved by:

**Committee Members** 

Dr. Ghassan Albarghouti Supervisor Chemistry Department, Birzeit University

Dr. Waseem Abu Oun **Committee Member** Chemistry Department, Birzeit University

Prof. Othman Hamed Committee Member, External Examiner Chemistry Department, An-Najah National University

Signature

ະນ 🔾

Othman Hamed

By

## Acknowledgment

(الْحَمْدُ لِلهِ الَّذِي هَدَانَا لِهَذَا وَمَا كُنَّا لِنَهْتَدِيَ لَوْلا أَنْ هَدَانَا اللهُ) الأعراف (43)

All the praise for God, the Almighty, who guides me toward knowledge and patience.

Deep gratitude and appreciation to my lovely family, my father, my mother, my sister Noor, and my brothers Osama and Anas, for their endless support and trust.

I'd like to express my sincerest appreciation to my advisor, Dr. Ghassan Albarghouti, for his patience, time, gaudiness, and great knowledge, which influenced me and always kept me motivated.

#### Abstract

Hydrazone derivatives represent a class of fundamental organic molecules of valuable building blocks for synthesizing natural and pharmaceutical products. The reactive azomethine group (-N=CH-) plays a crucial role in their bioactivity. Many studies demonstrate hydrazone bioactivities including antimicrobial, anticonvulsant, antidepressant, anti-inflammatory, analgesic, antiplatelet, antimalarial, anticancer, antifungal, antitubercular, antiviral, and cardioprotective activities. Herin hydrazone was synthesized using bis-cyclopentadienyl zirconium dichloride complex as Cp<sub>2</sub>ZrCl<sub>2</sub>/EtMgCl reagent for a cross-coupling reaction between alkynes and methyl diazoacetate. The reaction conditions were found to be optimum upon conducting the reaction in the absence of light with the addition of precursors at low temperatures of -78 °C, six hours were required for reaction completion. The crude products were monitored with TLC and separated with column chromatography. Then, the isolated compounds were analyzed with GC-MS, <sup>1</sup>H-NMR, and <sup>13</sup>C-NMR. Thirteen different hydrazones were furnished upon this methodology using both simple alkynes and boronated alkynes. The percentage yields of the hydrazone compounds that were synthesized from boronated alkynes were higher than those synthesized from terminal alkynes and the best-isolated yield was 60% for the hydrazone that was synthesized from boronated 5-chloro-1-pentyne.

الملخص

تمثل مركبات الهيدر ازون فئة من المركبات العضوية الأساسية التي تشكل لبنات بناء مهمة لتكوين العديد من المركبات الدوائية. حيث أن مجموعة الأزوميثاين المكونة من النيتروجين والكربون لها دور حاسم في فعاليتها الحيوية. تؤكد العديد من الدر اسات على الفعالية الحيوية لمركبات الهيدر ازون مما يعنى دخولها في تركيب مضادات الميكروبات، مضادات الاكتئاب، مضادات الالتهاب، مسكنات الألم، مضادات الملاريا، علاج السرطان، مضادات الفطريات، مضادات السل، مضادات الفير وسات، وأدوية القلب في هذا البحث، لقد تم توليف مركبات الهيدر ازون باستخدام Cp<sub>2</sub>ZrCl<sub>2</sub>/EtMgCl من أجل إجراء تفاعل يربط بين الألكاينات مع الميثيل دياز واسيتات. تم تحسين ظروف التفاعل بعد دراسة تأثير كل من الوقت، درجة الحرارة، الضوء، وكميات المواد المستخدمة في التفاعل على نسبة الناتج الفعلى و مدى نقاوته، حيث أنه و بناءً على النتائج فإنه يلزم إجراء التفاعل بغياب الضوء و يفضل إضافة المواد المتفاعلة على درجات حرارة منخفضة بحوالي -75 °س. المدة الزمنية اللازمة لإجراء هذا التفاعل بأفضل مردود كانت ستة ساعات . تم فحص المركبات بواسطة الفصل الكروماتو غرافي على TLC قبل وبعد أن تم فصلها باستخدام عمود الفصل الكروماتوجر افي. تم تحليل جزء من المركبات النقية التي تم فصلها باستخدام تقنيات الفصل الكروماتوغرافي والرنين المغناطيسي H-NMR ، GC-MS، تم تحضير ثلاثة عشر مركب هيدرازون مختلفاً بناءً على هذه المنهجية باستخدام كل من الألكاينات البسيطة والألكاينات التي تم تعديل تركيبها عن طريق ارتباط الألكاين مع بورونات الايستر بدلاً من وجود ذرة الهيدروجين الحمضية، حيث تم الحصول على أعلى ناتج بمقدار 60% من الهيدر ازون المحضر من الألكاين 5-كلورو-1-بنتاين بعدما تم تعديل تركيبه بمتفرع بورونات الإيستر.

Abstract
4
List of Schemes7
Table of Figures
List of Tables
Chapter 1. Background and General View10
1.1 Introduction to Hydrazones10
1.1.1 Hydrazone Structure10
1.1.2 Hydrazones Applications
1.1.2.1 Hydrazones as Molecular Switches12
1.1.2.2 Hydrazones in Organometallics and Organic Synthesis13
1.1.2.3 Hydrazones Biological Activity14
1.1.2.4 The Anticancer Activities of Hydrazones15
1.1.3 Overview of The Synthetic Routes of Hydrazones17
1.2 Overview of Zirconocene
1.2.1 Metallocenes:
1.2.2 Zirconium Element and Zirconium Compounds19
1.2.3 Zirconocene Dichloride Complex
1.3 Diazo Compounds and Diazoesters
The Aim of This Study24
Chapter 2. Experimental Part

## **Table of Contents**

2.1 Tetrahydrofuran (THF) drying26
2.2 Preparation of anhydrous hydrogen chloride in diethyl ether (HCl/Et <sub>2</sub> O) 29
2.3 Preparation of boronate
2.4 Functionalization of alkyne with borate ester
2.5 Preparation of Glycine Methyl Ester
2.6 Preparation of methyl diazoacetate
2.7 General procedure for synthesis of hydrazones using the proposed methodology
Chapter 3. Results and Discussion45
3.1 Precursor characterization45
3.2 Reaction conditions optimization48
3.3 The proposed reaction mechanism
3.4 Hydrazone characterization results61
3.4.1 Analysis with GC-MS62
3.4.2 Characterization with NMR
3.5 Expected reaction byproducts72
Chapter 4. Conclusion and Future Studies74
References

## **List of Schemes**

Scheme 1. Hydrazone behavior as a molecular switch when affected by light with different wavelengths (hv and hv`) or heat
Scheme 2. Some of the discovered synthetic routes of hydrazone compounds
Scheme 3. Stability trends of diazo components
Scheme 4. Resonance structures of diazo compounds23
Scheme 5. Sodium reduction of benzophenone to form the ketyl species
Scheme 6. The chemical reaction equation for the preparation of HCl gas
Scheme 7. Preparation reaction of boronate
Scheme 8. Synthesis of alkyne boronate
Scheme 9. Summary of the sequential steps to prepare the electrophile for hydrazone synthesis reaction
Scheme 10. Preparation of glycine methyl ester hydrochloride
Scheme 11. The preparation reaction of methyl diazoacetate
Scheme 12. The scope of this work of synthesis of hydrazones from simple alkynes
Scheme 13. The scope of this work of the synthesis of hydrazone from boronated alkynes49
Scheme 14. The proposed reaction mechanism 57
Scheme 15. The mechanism of the preparation reaction of boronated alkynes

## **Table of Figures**

Figure 1. Demonstration of the functional diversity in the structure of hydrazone moiety11
Figure 2. Image of zirconium metal
Figure 3. Zirconocene dichloride structure
Figure 4. Schematic diagram of the performed one-pot synthesis reaction25
Figure 5. THF drying setup27
Figure 6. The gradual color changing through THF drying process
Figure 7. HCl/Et <sub>2</sub> O preparation setup
Figure 8. Pinacol transfer under dried conditions with nitrogen pressure building up30
Figure 9. Distillation of boronate setup
Figure 10. The setup for the synthesis reaction of hydrazones
Figure 11. Schematic diagram of hydrazone synthesis methodology
Figure 12. IR spectrum of (—) glycine and (—) glycine methyl ester45
Figure 13. a. Total ion chromatogram of boronated 1-pentyne. b. mass spectrum of the compound with a retention time of 11.9 min
Figure 14. a. Total ion chromatogram of boronated 4-ethynyl anisole. b. mass spectrum of the compound with a retention time of 17.7 min
Figure 15. The isomers of methyl 2-(2-(3-phenylbut-3-en-1-yl)hydrazono)acetate
Figure 16. a. Total ion chromatogram of the fraction containing the hydrazone (1). b. mass spectrum of the peak with a retention time of 27.98 min
Figure 17. a. Total ion chromatogram of the fraction containing the hydrazone (8). b. mass spectrum of the major peak with a retention time of 11.8 min
Figure 18. a. Total ion chromatogram of the fraction containing the hydrazone (9). b. mass spectrum of the major peak with a retention time of 19.7 min
Figure 19. a. Total ion chromatogram of the fraction containing the hydrazone (11). b. mass spectrum of the major peak with a retention time of 21.5 min
Figure 20. <sup>1</sup> H-NMR spectrum of the hydrazone (8)

Figure 21. <sup>13</sup> C-NMR spectrum of the hydrazone (8)	69
Figure 22. <sup>1</sup> H-NMR spectrum of the hydrazone (9)	70
Figure 23. <sup>1</sup> H-NMR spectrum of the hydrazone (12) after hydrolysis	71
Figure 24. <sup>1</sup> H-NMR spectrum of the hydrazone (11) after hydrolysis	72
Figure 25. Some of the possible byproducts from the synthesis reaction	73

## **List of Tables**

Table 1. Optimization of hydrazone synthesis reaction conditions	49
Table 2. Substituted hydrazones synthesis	53
Table 3. The synthesized hydrazones from the boronated alkynes	55
Table 4. Chemical shifts analysis of ${}^{13}$ C-NMR signals of the synthesized hydrazone (10).	68

#### **Chapter 1. Background and General View:**

#### **1.1 Introduction to Hydrazones**

#### **1.1.1 Hydrazone Structure:**

Hydrazones, well-known organic compounds derived from the Schiff-base family, are very attractive and valuable scaffolds for various applications with great versatility, particularly in the medicinal and pharmaceutical chemistry fields.<sup>1,2</sup> Imines are compounds containing ( $R_1R_2$ –C=N– $R_3$ ), in which  $R_1$ ,  $R_2$ , and  $R_3$  could be alkyl, aryl, or hydrogen atom. Schiff bases are sub-classes of imines containing the azomethine group ( $R_1R_2$ –C=N– $R_3$ ) in which  $R_3$  could be an alkyl or aryl group, but not a hydrogen atom.<sup>3</sup> When  $R_3$  in a Schiff base is an amine group it called hydrazone. Hydrazone groups popularity increased in the recent decade due to their direct synthesis processes and functional diversity, in addition, they are favored over other imines for their stability toward hydrolysis.<sup>4</sup>

The structural flexibility and application versatility of hydrazone moiety in the organic compounds and metal complexes are found to be directly correlated with its chemical structure which affects its chemical and physical properties. Taking a look at hydrazone's structure ( $R_1R_2C=N-NR_3R_4$ ) that shown in (Figure 1), both nitrogen atoms are considered nucleophilic atoms but the amino-type nitrogen is more electrophilic than the adjacent imine nitrogen.<sup>5–8</sup> The presence of the reactive azomethine group (-N=CH-) has considerable importance in coordination and organometallic chemistry as well as in its bioactivity.<sup>9–11</sup> The

active hydrogen, in particular, is used widely as a center for coupling in chemical reactions, which allows hydrazones to act as intermediates for the synthesis of other important compounds, notwithstanding that hydrazones on their own are effective and valuable organic compounds with distinct bioactivity. An outstanding feature of hydrazones is their ability for further substitution using the free pair of electrons on the nitrogen atom in the imine bond via reaction with other functional groups, those electron pairs are conjugated with the imine bond (C=N).<sup>12</sup>

The imine bond in hydrazones is a main distinguishable feature that affects hydrazones activity. This bond is known for its ability to exhibit (E/Z) isomerism and photochromism. Usually, these configurations are produced simultaneously when hydrazones are synthesized. Several methods were employed to separate these isomers from each other including chromatographic techniques.<sup>13</sup> Hydrazone's isomerism is prominent and allows hydrazone compounds to work as molecular switches and photo-switch linkers.



Figure 1. Demonstration of the functional diversity in the structure of hydrazone moiety.

#### **1.1.2 Hydrazones Applications:**

As a result of these distinct structural properties of hydrazones' moieties in their structural molecules, several fields employed these compounds for a variety of specific functions in organic synthesis, drugs, fluorescent sensors, molecular switches, dyes, organometallic coordination, and supramolecular chemistry, also in security protection applications.<sup>14</sup>

#### **1.1.2.1 Hydrazones as Molecular Switches:**

Molecular switches are compounds that change their structure upon exposure to stimuli,<sup>15</sup> hydrazones undergo configurational switching and could be turned from one configuration to the other when exposed to light, UV irradiation, chemicals, or other changes in the surrounding environment like pH, resulting in changes in their molecular motion and properties as a consequence.<sup>16</sup>

Photo-switching of hydrazones is light-induced isomerism switching, in which the UV light provides sufficient energy to affect the rotation of the imine bond. The Z configuration is less favored in many cases which could be attributed to steric hindrance effects. However, it could be stabilized and favored over the E configuration through the intramolecular hydrogen bonding in some substituted hydrazones containing H-bond acceptors.<sup>17</sup> (Scheme 1) elucidates how hydrazones behave as molecular switches.



Scheme 1. Hydrazone behavior as a molecular switch when affected by light with different wavelengths (hv and hv`) or heat.

#### **1.1.2.2 Hydrazones in Organometallics and Organic Synthesis:**

Hydrazone ligands are attractive parts in metal complexes since they act as polydentate chelating agents and are used for selective metal extracting and spectroscopic transition metal characterization in analytical chemistry. On the other hand, they act as reactants in many chemical reactions such as hydrazone iodination; which represents the conversion of hydrazone into vinyl iodide via its oxidation with iodine using a non-nucleophilic base.<sup>18</sup>

Shapiro reaction Bamford-Stevens reaction transform hydrazone into alkene under basic conditions, Shapiro reaction utilizes moderate bases and gives the kinetic "less substituted" product, while Bamford-Stevens reaction utilizes strong bases and gives the thermodynamic "more substituted" product.<sup>19</sup> Moreover, hydrazones are used as intermediates in Wolff-Kishner reduction reactions to convert a carbonyl into a methylene group,<sup>20</sup> as well as in the synthesis of many heterocyclic compounds.<sup>6</sup> Hydrazones are also used extensively in the material science field to synthesize hydrogels and fluorophores, in addition to the sensors field.<sup>21</sup>

#### **1.1.2.3 Hydrazones Biological Activity:**

Hydrazones are well-known compounds in pharmaceutical and medicinal chemistry due to their broad spectrum of biological activity, including antitumoral,<sup>22,23</sup> antiviral,<sup>24,25</sup> anti-inflammatory,<sup>26,27</sup> antifungal,<sup>28,29</sup> antimicrobial,<sup>30,31</sup> antiplatelet,<sup>32,33</sup> anticonvulsant,<sup>34,35</sup> analgesic,<sup>36,37</sup> antitubercular,<sup>38,39</sup> and anti-HIV activities. Furthermore, their derivatives are used in drugs for mental disorders treatment and leprosy.<sup>6,11,40</sup>

Hydrazones were utilized to manipulate the drug release to achieve selectivity by embedding the drug within their structure exploiting the influence of the surrounding conditions, such as the pH level. For example, hydrazones are found to be stable in the neutral pH level of the blood, whereas they are cleaved in the acidic conditions of the tumor cells surrounding and in cells' endosomes releasing their constituents of drugs in such sites. These properties allow hydrazones linkage within several drugs for many targets. The pH sensitivity of hydrazones is a crucial characteristic that enables their utilization for cancer treatment with controlled release of the active material of the medication.<sup>12</sup>

As mentioned before, hydrazones are capable of acting as chelating agents to form metal complexes, this approach is advantageous as they aid in the excretion of the excess accumulated metals in the human body through the formation of stable complexes via binding to these metals. Studies indicated hydrazones chelation efficiency for cobalt and iron to avoid body metal poisoning with excess (Co) and the risk of (Fe) in the case of iron overload disorders.<sup>41,42</sup>

#### **1.1.2.4 The Anticancer Activities of Hydrazones:**

Cancer, the uncontrollable growth and proliferation of abnormal cells, is still a challenging chronic disease that ranks among the top three death-causing diseases worldwide.<sup>43</sup> The chemical compound structure including its electronic character and the type of functional groups that exist within the molecules are crucial in determining their activity as anticancer species and their influence on the mechanism of reaction with such malignant cells.

In the last decades, it has been demonstrated that one of the primary causes of cancer growth, progression, and metastasis in human cells is the disturbance of redox balance. It has been established that an increase in free radicals, predominantly the reactive oxygen species (ROS), is one of the main causes of this imbalance in redox homeostasis. The free radicals could emerge from either intrinsic sources, such as inflammatory cells, mitochondria, or complexes of cell enzymes, or extrinsic sources, such as radiations, pro-oxidant toxins, and chemicals from smoking, alcohol, or drugs.

Numerous studies proposed various anticancer mechanisms, one of the basic mechanisms based on electron transfer (ET), reactive oxygen species (ROS), and oxidative stress (OS). The ROS levels rise in the presence of cancer cells, however, its level is balanced through increased antioxidant capacity, since antioxidants act as scavengers for ROS.<sup>44,45</sup>

It is important to study the structure-activity relationship (SAR) since the compound structure and its electronic character have a direct effect on its activity against tumoral cell inhibition. Thus, functional groups have been studied widely to detect the effect of these groups in the development of malignant cells, for example, halides, amino, nitro, and carbonyl groups are electron-withdrawing groups have shown better activity than electron-donating groups, such as methyl and methoxy groups. However, we could not generalize this comparison for all the compounds, since many factors could affect the activity of these groups such as steric hindrance. Furthermore, the position of these groups could affect their activity, for example, the substituents at the *para* position were found to have good cancer cell growth and migration inhibition.<sup>43</sup>

Hydrazones exhibit their anticancer activities via various mechanisms including apoptosis induction, microtubule polymerization prevention, cyclin-dependent kinases inhibition, and blocking of histone deacetylases and phosphatidylinositol 3-kinases.<sup>46</sup> Over the past five years, researchers have synthesized several types of substituted hydrazones and tested them for anticancer activity on a variety of cell lines, including those from breast cancer, leukemia, lung cancer, colon carcinoma, gastric cancer, esophageal cancer, and pancreatic cancer. Different substituents on the hydrazone moiety mean variation of its activity and selectivity of interaction.<sup>47</sup>

#### 1.1.3 Overview of The Synthetic Routes of Hydrazones:

Many studies demonstrated several methods for the synthesis of hydrazones. The most common method for the preparation of hydrazones utilizes hydrazide or hydrazine to react with a carbonyl compound, particularly aldehyde or ketone, with reflux in the presence of a compatible organic solvent, such as methanol, ethanol, butanol, tetrahydrofuran, and glacial acetic acid.<sup>11,48,49</sup> The traditional method requires heating for a long time and requires large amounts of organic solvents.

Coupling reactions such as the Japp-Klingemann reaction utilize aryldiazonium salts to react with  $\beta$ -keto esters or  $\beta$ -keto acids containing active hydrogen to synthesize hydrazones.<sup>50</sup> Green chemistry considerations started to be taken into account to avoid the large use of toxic solvents and by-products to achieve eco-friendly chemical reactions' methodologies. Regarding hydrazone syntheses, some of the recognized synthetic reactions are summarized below in (Scheme 2).<sup>11</sup> Other methods include the reactions of different amino acids with aldehydes.<sup>51,52</sup> Also, hydrazide-hydrazones compounds were synthesized by the reaction of Mannich bases with hydrazides incorporating piperidine, morpholine,

and piperazine units.<sup>53</sup> Limited studies introduced amino acids for Schiff bases synthesis,<sup>8</sup> such substrates contribute to enhancing the product bioactivities.



Scheme 2. Some of the discovered synthetic routes of hydrazone compounds.

#### **1.2 Overview of Zirconocene:**

#### **1.2.1 Metallocenes:**

Organometallic compounds are widely employed in organic synthesis fields to realize stoichiometric and catalytic reactions to obtain products with versatile physical, chemical, and biological characteristics.<sup>54</sup> Metallocenes are a wellknown and remarkable category of organometallic compounds, a common name for metal sandwich compounds; which are bis(cyclopentadienyl) complexes. The general structure of metallocenes is composed of a central metal atom such as iron (Fe), hafnium (Hf), titanium (Ti), zirconium (Zr), and other metals, linked with aromatic ligands, typically two cyclopentadienyl groups ( $C_5H_5^-$ ) abbreviated as (Cp), the general formula is  $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2M]$ .<sup>55</sup> Ferrocene Fe( $C_5H_5$ )<sub>2</sub> is among the earliest known and employed metallocenes.

Currently, Group (IV) metallocenes become more attractive, such as titanocene (Cp<sub>2</sub>Ti<sup>II</sup>) and zirconocene (Cp<sub>2</sub>Zr<sup>II</sup>) species which are generally unstable 14electron components and have a lone pair and two vacant valance orbitals, they usually are linked with two other ligands such as hydrogen or chloride. The possible interaction between such occupied and unoccupied orbitals greatly contributes to the reactivity of metallocenes with a variety of unsaturated compounds forming a d<sup>0</sup> pseudo-tetrahedral complex.<sup>56,57</sup> Metallocenes were utilized in a wide range of applications, for example, they were used as lubricants and gasoline antiknock additives, in addition to their use as catalysts for olefin polymerization in plastic industries. These compounds are also investigated as potential anticancer agents. Furthermore, they are employed extensively as intermediates in organic synthesis.<sup>58,59</sup>

#### **1.2.2 Zirconium Element and Zirconium Compounds**

Zirconium is a transition metal of group (IV) elements with the atomic number 40 and an atomic mass of 99.224 amu, its electronic configuration is [Kr] 4d<sup>2</sup> 5s<sup>2</sup>. In 1925 zirconium was purified as a pure metal by van Arkel and de Boer after being isolated originally by Berzelius as an impure metal in 1824.<sup>60</sup> This metal is shiny metal with a silver to gray color as shown in (Figure 2). The prominence of zirconium is observable through its compounds, which have several interesting applications. Zircon, zirconia, zirconate, and zirconocenes are all zirconium-based compounds. Zircon is the common ore of zirconium with the chemical formula (ZrSiO<sub>4</sub>). Zirconia is zirconium dioxide (ZrO<sub>2</sub>) which is used in a wide range of applications such as the dentistry field and ceramics.<sup>61,62</sup> Zirconate is obtained from zirconia fusion with other metal oxides. Biscyclopentadienyl zirconium dichloride is commonly called zirconocene dichloride with the formula (Cp<sub>2</sub>ZrCl<sub>2</sub>).



Figure 2. Image of zirconium metal.

#### **1.2.3 Zirconocene Dichloride Complex:**

The complex  $Cp_2ZrCl_2$  is a bent metallocene as shown in (Figure 3), it attracted substantial attention for its reactivity. It is a non-hazardous air and moisture stable d<sup>0</sup> zirconocene and has thus been engaged widely in the catalytic area.<sup>63</sup> This organometallic complex was synthesized through the reaction between zirconium(IV) chloride complex and cyclopentadienide sodium in a similar manner to the synthesis reaction of  $Cp_2ZrBr_2$  introduced by Birmingham and Wilkinson.<sup>64,65</sup>



Figure 3. Zirconocene dichloride structure.

Cp<sub>2</sub>ZrCl<sub>2</sub> has been investigated in the reactions of carbonyl group transformations,<sup>66</sup> intramolecular and cross-coupling catalyzed reactions, and a variety of organic synthesis reactions.<sup>63</sup> Cp<sub>2</sub>ZrCl<sub>2</sub> reagent was utilized in a regioselective synthesis reaction of functionalized cyclopentenone derivatives.<sup>67</sup> Moreover, zirconocene coupling of alkenes and alkynes has been used extensively as a source for a novel, versatile pathway to functionalize organic compounds,<sup>68</sup> including different macromolecules with distinct characteristics and beneficial applications, especially in medicinal chemistry.

Many researchers used zirconocene to prepare different advantageous reagents such as Negishi, Rosenthal, and Schwartz's reagents. Negishi reagent synthesized via reaction between Cp<sub>2</sub>ZrCl<sub>2</sub> with alkyl lithium or alkyl Grignard to form intermediate species that represent a source of zirconocene (Cp<sub>2</sub>Zr<sup>II</sup>) which could undergo a variety of reactions, particularly in cyclization reactions of several unsaturated hydrocarbons.<sup>69,70</sup> Other reactions involved the reduction of Cp<sub>2</sub>ZrCl<sub>2</sub> with magnesium in the presence of bis(trimethylsilyl)acetylene in THF to synthesize "Rosenthal's reagent".<sup>71</sup> "Schwartz's reagent" Cp<sub>2</sub>Zr(H)Cl, has a substantial role in hydrozirconation of olefins to provide alkyl-zirconocenes, which in turns used for the preparation of alkyl halides upon reaction with electrophiles. "Schwartz's reagent" was also obtained from the reduction of Cp<sub>2</sub>ZrCl<sub>2</sub> with lithium tri-tert-butoxyaluminum hydride LiAlH(O-t-Bu)<sub>3</sub>, sodium bis(2-methoxyethoxy)aluminum hydride (RED-Al), or lithium aluminum hydride (LiAlH<sub>4</sub>) by treatment with methylene chloride.<sup>72</sup>

#### **1.3 Diazo Compounds and Diazoesters:**

Diazo compounds, containing a couple of terminal nitrogen atoms, are significant building blocks in organic synthesis, medicinal chemistry, material science, and other fields. Diazoesters are safer for use than other diazo compounds such as diazomethane which is considered very explosive due to decomposition, especially in acidic conditions, and has hazardous effects on human health. The presence of electron-withdrawing groups increases the stability of diazo substrates while electron-donating groups reduce their stability and thus become more reactive and can lose  $N_2$  easily as a well-known good leaving group (Scheme 3).<sup>73</sup> The ester moiety induces the stability of the

compound by resonance where the negative charge delocalizes through the diazoester structure. On the other hand, the high boiling point of diazoesters reduces their health hazards. However, such compounds must be handled carefully and at low temperatures.<sup>74</sup>



Scheme 3. Stability trends of diazo components.

Diazo compounds have a unique reactivity, they are known precursors for metal carbenes generation.<sup>75</sup> Furthermore, they undergo 1,3-dipolar cycloaddition due to their ylid nature;<sup>74</sup> ylid structure describes a compound containing adjacent atoms that are negatively and positively charged.<sup>76</sup> The utility of diazo esters has been studied widely as nucleophiles, but limited studies discussed their capability to react as electrophiles.<sup>77,78</sup> The electrophilic capability could be understood through electron delocalization in the resonance structures of the compound (Scheme 4).<sup>76</sup>



Scheme 4. Resonance structures of diazo compounds.

#### The Aim of This Study:

- Synthesis of several aliphatic, aromatic, and halogenated hydrazones via a novel methodology in a flexible one-pot reaction using substituted zirconocene intermediate utilizing commercially available starting materials with the incorporation of organozirconium (Bis(cyclopentadienyl) zirconium dichloride as a negishi reagent for cross coupling reaction between alkynes and methyl diazoacetate. (Figure 4) summarizes the performed reaction in general.
- Preparation of some of the utilized reagents including solvents drying, pinacol drying, boronate ester preparation, preparation of HCL in ether, alkyl diazoacetate preparation.
- 3. Utilization of diazo compounds to react in an unusual manner as an electrophile not nucleophile.
- 4. Functionalization of terminal alkynes with pinacol boronate ester to control its reactivity and enhance the percentage yield.



Figure 4. Schematic diagram of the performed one-pot synthesis reaction.

- Recognizing the optimum conditions for the reaction to obtain the highest yield of hydrazones upon determining the effect of reaction time, temperature, amounts of precursors, and light on the product.
- 6. Characterization of the furnished compounds by <sup>1</sup>H NMR, <sup>13</sup>C NMR, and GC-MS.

#### **Chapter 2. Experimental Part**

In this chapter, the methodology of the hydrazone synthesis reaction in addition to the preparation methods of some of the precursors needed are presented and discussed in detail. All the reagents were purchased from Sigma Aldrich, Merck and other commercial suppliers.

Two routes were employed in the synthesis reaction, one utilizes simple alkynes as the starting material and the other utilizes alkynes after being functionalized as alkyne boronates. Variations of the reaction conditions were tested to adjust the optimum reaction conditions. Thin layer chromatography (TLC) on silica gel 60  $F_{254}$  was employed to monitor the reaction progress and the purity of the product. The components were visualized on TLC plates with UV irradiation at 254 nm in addition to exposure to iodine vapor. Separation of the crude product components was accomplished with column chromatography using silica gel 60 and some of the isolated pure product was then identified using nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy (<sup>1</sup>H NMR and <sup>13</sup>C NMR) in An-Najah National University, in addition to analysis with gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (GC-MS) in Birzeit university testing laboratory center to confirm their structure.

#### 2.1 Tetrahydrofuran (THF) drying:

Dried conditions are very important in the hypothesized reaction. Zirconocene intermediate is sensitive to moisture and oxygen, thus all the utilized chemicals, solvents, as well as glassware apparatuses should be quite dried from moisture and  $O_2$ . The organic solvent THF is a moderately polar aprotic watermiscible solvent, and its water content could easily be affected by air moisture and thus should be dried. According to literature procedures,<sup>81</sup> THF was dried in order to be free from moisture and  $O_2$  by refluxing a mixture of THF, benzophenone, and sodium metal segments (Na<sup>0</sup>) to be distilled under nitrogen with heat using a heating mantle, the setup is shown in (Figure 5).



Figure 5. THF drying setup.

Sodium metal acts as a dehydrating agent, in addition, it reduces one electron at the carbonyl group of the benzophenone to form a deep blue sodiumbenzophenone ketyl radical anion (Scheme 5) that scavenges  $O_2$  molecules besides water and peroxides, such intensive deep blue color indicates the completeness of the dryness.<sup>82</sup> (Figure 6) shows the gradual color change from colorless to blue still. The dried colorless THF solvent is then collected under a nitrogen atmosphere after distillation and used in all the conducted reactions that require THF.



Scheme 5. Sodium reduction of benzophenone to form the ketyl species.



Figure 6. The gradual color changing through THF drying process.

#### 2.2 Preparation of anhydrous hydrogen chloride in diethyl ether (HCl/Et<sub>2</sub>O):

A reaction between sodium chloride (NaCl) and concentrated sulfuric acid  $(H_2SO_4)$  was carried out under dried conditions in a closed system (Scheme 6) and the evolved hydrogen chloride gas was bubbled in a specific volume of diethyl ether placed in an ice bath, ether should be previously dried over molecular sieves and sodium segments. Excess gas pressure was released continuously through paraffine oil (Figure 7). The concentration of the HCl in ether was determined from the mass difference of ether before and after the reaction completion. This solution was prepared to be used in the synthesis of alkyne boronate.

#### NaCl + $H_2SO_4 \longrightarrow HCl + Na_2SO_4$

Scheme 6. The chemical reaction equation for the preparation of HCl gas.



Figure 7. HCl/Et<sub>2</sub>O preparation setup.

#### **2.3 Preparation of boronate:**

The compound 2-isopropyloxy-4,4,5,5-tetramethyl-1,3,2-dioxaborolane, briefly called boronate or pinacol ester, was prepared from tiisopropylborate and pinacol in a similar manner to the literature procedures.<sup>83</sup> Pinacol, 2,3-dimethylbutane-2,3-diol, is a hygroscopic material and must be previously dried with Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> drying agent after being dissolved in dichloromethane (DCM) and then transferred through a long needle under the effect of pressure building up from nitrogen gas to a completely dried round bottom flask (Figure 8) to be distilled then under nitrogen with the rotary evaporator.



**Figure 8.** Pinacol transfer under dried conditions with nitrogen pressure building up. Equivalent amounts of dried pinacol and triisopropylborate were mixed which allowed the borylation reaction to occur, boronate was then separated using vacuum distillation with heat (Scheme 7). Isopropyl alcohol was separated and collected at first as its boiling point was about 82 °C, then at higher temperatures

and reduced pressure pure boronate was distilled off and collected (Figure 9) to be used in the next step for alkyne functionalization.



Scheme 7. Preparation reaction of boronate.



Figure 9. Distillation of boronate setup.

#### 2.4 Functionalization of alkyne with borate ester:

A new substituent for the alkyne was accomplished via functionalization with pinacol borane to give alkynylpinacolatoborane (Scheme 8) according to published procedures,<sup>84</sup> in which the terminal alkyne cyclohexyl acetylene (15.3 mmol, 1 equiv.) was dissolved in 30 ml THF in a pre-dried 150 ml round bottom flask flushed with nitrogen and stirred with butyllithium (15.3 mmol, 1 equiv.) which was added dropwise at -78 °C to be stirred for 1 hour to form alkynyllithium. The borate ester (13.617 mmol, 0.89 equiv.) was then added dropwise to the reaction flask and stirred for 2 hours. According to literature stirring the reaction overnight is also possible and gives the same product. For the reaction workup, the mixture was quenched with 1M of HCl/Et<sub>2</sub>O (15.3 mmol, 1 equiv.) at a temperature below 0 °C to react with the released lithium ions and form lithium chloride (LiCl) salt that would later precipitate, Et<sub>2</sub>O could also be used as a solvent instead of THF, since the solubility of the lithium salt in Et<sub>2</sub>O is less than THF which facilitates its separation by suction filtration under nitrogen followed by vacuum distillation under nitrogen with rotary evaporator.



Scheme 8. Synthesis of alkyne boronate,

#### 2.5 Preparation of Glycine Methyl Ester:

Although Glycine methyl ester hydrochloride is a commercially available compound, it was prepared in the lab from a simple amino acid to be used in the next step for the preparation of methyl diazoacetate, which will be the electrophile in the principal synthesis reaction of hydrazones (Scheme 9).



Scheme 9. Summary of the sequential steps to prepare the electrophile for hydrazone synthesis reaction.

Following a literature procedure,<sup>79</sup> glycine methyl ester hydrochloride was prepared by reacting (1 equiv.) of glycine amino acid with (2 equiv.) of trimethylsilyl chloride (TMSCl) in methanol and stirred at room temperature for 24 hours (Scheme 10). The product was confirmed by determining its melting point and analysis by IR spectroscopy.



Scheme 10. Preparation of glycine methyl ester hydrochloride.

#### **2.6 Preparation of methyl diazoacetate:**

Following the literature procedure in a similar manner to the preparation of ethyl diazoacetate,<sup>80</sup> the preparation reaction of methyl diazoacetate (Scheme 11) started with dissolving the previously prepared glycine methyl ester hydrochloride (40.6 mmol, 1 equiv.) of, glycine methyl ester hydrochloride and sodium acetate (1.5 mmol, 0.036 equiv.) in water, the solution was stirred in an ice bath and then sodium nitrite (46.7 mmol, 1.15 equiv.) cold solution was added to the mixture to react followed by the addition of cold diethyl ether and 10% sulfuric acid (H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>). The solution was allowed to stir for reaction completion, the next step was the rapid cold extraction with neutralization of the organic layer with 10% sodium carbonate (Na<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub>), and the procedures were repeated to collect all the product.

The organic layer was then dried with sodium sulfate (Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>). Finally, the solvents were removed using rotary evaporator under cold conditions using an ice bath. Methyl diazoacetate was prepared in this work even it is commercially available, since this material is very sensitive to temperature and must be stored under dried conditions at low temperatures, it decomposes directly at high temperatures, and even at room temperature. The prepared compound was analyzed with IR spectroscopy. Methyl diazoacetate is prepared to act as an electrophile in the principal reaction.



Scheme 11. The preparation reaction of methyl diazoacetate.

# 2.7 General procedure for the synthesis of hydrazones with the proposed methodology

According to the hypothesized methodology, zirconocene dichloride (1 mmol, 1.1 equiv.) was dissolved in 7 mL of dry THF in a pre-dried 100 mL roundbottom flask flushed with nitrogen and covered completely with aluminum foil, then grignard reagent 2M EtMgCl (2 mmol, 2 equiv.) was added to the solution dropwise at -78 °C using dry ice in acetone (Figure 10). After being stirred for an hour the alkyne (0.91 mmol, 1 equiv.) was added and stirred at -78° C for an hour, then warmed to 0° C gradually and stirred for an additional hour. Finally, methyl diazoacetate (1 mmol, 1.2 equiv.) was added dropwise at -78° C for half an hour then warmed gradually to room temperature and allowed to stir for 3 hours. A nitrogen gas balloon was attached to the reaction flask during the process to maintain the inert atmosphere and allow gases to be safely released from the reaction flask. All the reagents were added using syringes and needles through the flask rubber septum stopper to avoid exposure to the atmospheric conditions.


Figure 10. The setup for the synthesis reaction of hydrazones.

The reaction mixture was worked up by quenching with hydrochloric acid solution 10% HCl, then extracted with diethyl ether. The extracted organic layer was dried over sodium sulfate  $Na_2SO_4$  drying agent (Figure 11). The product was concentrated through evaporation on the rotary evaporator to remove excess organic solvents. The targeted hydrazone compound was separated from the prepared crude product with column chromatography (SiO<sub>2</sub>, 1-5% Et<sub>2</sub>O/hexane).

Treatment of the zirconocene reagent in this methodology was developed analogously to the preparation of the Negishi reagent.<sup>70</sup> However, the manipulation of methyl diazoacetate to work as an electrophile for hydrazone synthesis was unprecedented. The reaction conditions including reaction time, temperature, light, and amounts of the utilized chemicals were optimized to obtain the highest product yield. Hydrazones with vinylboronate substituent were synthesized via the same previously discussed procedures utilizing the prepared alkynylboronate as the starting material instead of simple alkynes with increasing the stirring time of boronated alkynes to three hours instead of two hours to confirm the formation of the five membered ring zirconocene intermediate. The separated components were monitored with TLC, using silica gel TLC plates with (1% Et<sub>2</sub>O/hexane). A part of the prepared compounds was characterized by <sup>1</sup>H NMR, <sup>13</sup>C NMR, and GC-MS.



Figure 11. Schematic diagram of hydrazone synthesis methodology.

Synthesis of Methyl (E)-2-(2-(3-phenylbut-3-en-1-yl)hydrazineylidene) acetate (1)



The above procedures were applied using zirconocene dichloride (0.292 g,1 mmol), 2M EtMgCl (1 ml, 2 mmol), phenylacetylene (0.1 ml, 0.91 mmol), methyl diazoacetate (0.075 ml, 1.09 mmol) in dry THF. Column chromatography (SiO<sub>2</sub>, 2% Et<sub>2</sub>O/hexane) was employed for the purification of the crude product ( $R_f = 0.5$ ) to afford the title compound (83 mg, 40%, yellow solid). GC-MS (EI, m/z): 232 (M<sup>+</sup>).

Synthesis of methyl (E)-2-(2-(3-methyleneoctyl)hydrazineylidene)acetate (2)



The above procedures were applied using zirconocene dichloride (0.244 g, 0.836 mmol), 2M EtMgCl (0.76 ml, 2 mmol), 1-heptyne (0.1 ml, 0.76 mmol), methyl diazoacetate (0.063 ml, 0.91 mmol) in dry THF. Column chromatography (SiO<sub>2</sub>, 2% Et<sub>2</sub>O/hexane) was employed for the purification of the crude product ( $R_f = 0.5$ ) to afford the title compound (white solid). **GC-MS** (EI, m/z): 226 (M<sup>+</sup>).

Synthesis of methyl (E)-2-(2-(6-chloro-3-methylenehexyl)hydrazineylidene) acetate (3)



The above procedures were applied using zirconocene dichloride (0.293 g, 1.1 mmol), 2M EtMgCl (1 ml, 2 mmol), 5-chloro-1-pentyne (0.1 ml, 0.91 mmol), methyl diazoacetate (0.075 ml, 1.1 mmol) in dry THF. Column chromatography (SiO<sub>2</sub>, 2% Et<sub>2</sub>O/hexane) was employed for the purification of the crude product ( $R_f = 0.5$ ) to afford the title compound (15%, pale yellow solid).

Synthesis of methyl (E)-2-(2-(3-cyclohexylbut-3-en-1-yl)hydrazineylidene) acetate (4)



The above procedures were applied using zirconocene dichloride (0.246 g, 0.84 mmol), 2M EtMgCl (0.765 ml, 1.53 mmol), cyclohexyl acetylene (0.1 ml, 0.765 mmol), methyl diazoacetate (0.064 ml, 0.918 mmol) in dry THF. Column

chromatography (SiO<sub>2</sub>, 2% Et<sub>2</sub>O/hexane) was employed for the purification of the crude product ( $R_f = 0.5$ ) to afford the title compound (13%, white solid).

### Synthesis of methyl (E)-2-(2-(3-methylenehexyl)hydrazineylidene)acetate (5)



The above procedures were applied using zirconocene dichloride (0.326 g, 1.115 mmol), 2M EtMgCl (1.01 ml, 2 mmol), 1-pentyne (0.1 ml, 1.01 mmol), methyl diazoacetate (0.084 ml, 1.217 mmol) in dry THF. Column chromatography (SiO<sub>2</sub>, 2% Et<sub>2</sub>O/hexane) was employed for the purification of the crude product ( $R_f = 0.5$ ) to afford the title compound (26%, white solid).

Synthesis of methyl (E)-2-(2-(6-methyl-3-methyleneheptyl)hydrazineylidene) acetate (6)



The above procedures were applied using zirconocene dichloride (0.244 g, 0.837 mmol), 2M EtMgCl (0.076 ml, 1.522 mmol), 5-methyl-1-hexyne (0.1 ml, 0.761 mmol), methyl diazoacetate (0.063 ml, 0.913 mmol) in dry THF. Column

chromatography (SiO<sub>2</sub>, 2% Et<sub>2</sub>O/hexane) was employed for the purification of the crude product ( $R_f = 0.5$ ) to afford the title compound (22%, white solid).

Synthesis of methyl (E)-2-(2-((Z)-3,4-diphenylbut-3-en-1-yl) hydrazineylidene)acetate (7)



The above procedures were applied using zirconocene dichloride (0.179 g, 0.61 mmol), 2M EtMgCl (0.056 ml, 1.11 mmol), diphenylacetylene (0.1 ml, 0.555 mmol), methyl diazoacetate (0.046 ml, 0.666 mmol) in dry THF. Column chromatography (SiO<sub>2</sub>, 2% Et<sub>2</sub>O/hexane) was employed for the purification of the crude product ( $R_f = 0.5$ ) to afford the title compound (26%, white solid).

Synthesis of methyl (E)-2-(2-((E)-3-ethylhex-3-en-1-yl)hydrazineylidene) acetate (8)



The above procedures were applied using zirconocene dichloride (1.92 g, 6.6 mmol), 2M EtMgCl (6.6 ml, 13.2 mmol), 3-hexyne (0.5 ml, 4.4 mmol), methyl diazoacetate (0.366 ml, 5.28 mmol) in dry THF. Column chromatography (SiO<sub>2</sub>, 35% EtOAc/hexane) was employed for the purification of the crude product ( $R_{\rm f}$ 

= 0.4) to afford the title compound (41 mg, 45%, yellow oil). GC-MS (EI, m/z):
212 (M<sup>+</sup>). <sup>1</sup>H NMR (81 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 6.70, 6.49, 5.26, 5.17, 5.08, 3.32, 3.24,
3.18, 3.10, 2.40, 2.31, 2.23, 2.09, 2.04, 2.01, 1.95, 1.92, 1.86, 1.82, 1.36, 1.23,
1.18, 1.14, 1.11, 1.02, 0.93, 0.84. <sup>13</sup>C NMR (20 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 50.59, 43.08,
32.70, 21.47, 19.91, 13.46, 12.14.

SynthesisofMethyl(E)-2-(2-(3-(4-methoxyphenyl)but-3-en-1-yl)hydrazineylidene)acetate (9)



The above procedures were applied using zirconocene dichloride (0.62 g, 2.12 mmol), 2M EtMgCl (1.93 ml, 3.85 mmol), 4-ethynylanisole (0.5 ml, 1.927 mmol), methyl diazoacetate (0.16 ml, 2.3 mmol) in dry THF. Column chromatography (SiO<sub>2</sub>, 40% EtOAc/hexane) was employed for the purification of the crude product ( $R_f = 0.4$ ) to afford the title compound (yellow to brown solid). **GC-MS** (EI, m/z): 262 (M<sup>+</sup>). <sup>1</sup>H NMR (81 MHz, )  $\delta$  7.19, 7.16, 6.83, 6.72, 6.48, 6.29, 6.00, 5.92, 3.74, 3.27, 2.51.

Synthesis of Methyl (E)-2-(2-((E)-3-((4,4,5,5-tetramethyl-1,3,2dioxaborolan-2-yl) methylene)hexyl)hydrazineylidene)acetate (10)



The above procedures were applied using zirconocene dichloride (1.044 g, 3.57 mmol), 2M EtMgCl (3.24 ml, 6.49 mmol), 4,4,5,5-tetramethyl-2-(pent-1-yn-1-yl)-1,3,2-dioxaborolane (0.5 ml, 3.247 mmol), methyl diazoacetate (0.27 ml, 3.896 mmol) in dry THF. Column chromatography (SiO<sub>2</sub>, 40% EtOAc/hexane) was employed for the purification of the crude product ( $R_f = 0.4$ ) to afford the title compound (white solid). **GC-MS** (EI, m/z): 324 (M<sup>+</sup>).

Synthesis of methyl (E)-2-(2-((Z)-3-cyclohexyl-4-(4,4,5,5-tetramethyl-1,3,2-dioxaborolan -2-yl)but-3-en-1-yl)hydrazineylidene)acetate (11)



The above procedures were applied using zirconocene dichloride (0.34 g, 1.059 mmol), 2M EtMgCl (1.059 ml, 2.118 mmol), 2-(cyclohexylethynyl)-4,4,5,5-tetramethyl-1,3,2-dioxaborolane (0.22 ml, 1.05 mmol), methyl diazoacetate (0.09 ml, 1.27 mmol) in dry THF. Column chromatography (SiO<sub>2</sub>, 40% EtOAc/hexane)

was employed for the purification of the crude product ( $R_f = 0.4$ ) to afford the title compound (51%, white solid). **GC-MS** (EI, m/z): 364 (M<sup>+</sup>). <sup>1</sup>H NMR (81 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.26, 6.72, 6.50, 5.04, 3.79, 3.39, 3.31, 3.23, 3.17, 2.48, 2.39, 2.31, 2.03, 1.71, 1.25, 1.02, 0.94.

Synthesis of methyl (E)-2-(2-((E)-6-chloro-3-((4,4,5,5-tetramethyl-1,3,2-dioxaborolan-2-yl)methylene)hexyl)hydrazineylidene)acetate (12)



The above procedures were applied using zirconocene dichloride (0.733 g, 2.5 mmol), 2M EtMgCl (1.68 ml, 4.56 mmol), 2-(5-chloropent-1-yn-1-yl)-4,4,5,5- tetramethyl-1,3,2-dioxaborolane (0.5 ml, 2.28 mmol), methyl diazoacetate (0.189 ml, 2.736 mmol) in dry THF. Column chromatography (SiO<sub>2</sub>, 40% EtOAc/hexane) was employed for the purification of the crude product ( $R_f = 0.4$ ) to afford the title compound (48 mg, 60%, yellow to brown solid). **GC-MS** (EI, m/z): 358 (M<sup>+</sup>). <sup>1</sup>H NMR (81 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.66, 7.26, 6.73, 6.48, 5.21, 3.79, 3.51, 2.44, 1.86, 1.36, 1.25.

# **Chapter 3. Results and Discussion**

#### **3.1 Precursor characterization:**

The prepared precursors were analyzed in different ways to confirm their structures. The melting point of glycine methyl ester hydrochloride was 176 - 178°C, in the range of the determined melting point of the same product in the literature.<sup>85</sup> (Figure 12) represents the IR spectrum of glycine and glycine methyl ester hydrochloride. From their spectra, the broad peak between 2500- 3200 cm<sup>-1</sup> in glycine refers to the O-H group in the carboxylic acid part overlapping with the sp<sup>3</sup> C-H stretching peak, which developed in glycine methyl ester to a less broadened peak at 2881 cm<sup>-1</sup> representing the sp<sup>3</sup> hybridized C-H group which is more clear in the ester with the methyl group than the carboxylic acid. Furthermore, the strong peak in the ester at 1742 cm<sup>-1</sup> resulted from C=O absorption, such a peak also exists in glycine but vibrates with lower frequency due to resonance and this bond is stronger in the ester than in glycine.



Figure 12. IR spectrum of (—) glycine and (—) glycine methyl ester.

Boronated alkynes are sensitive to oxygen and moisture, and thus are not easily to be characterized unless analysis is performed after sampling directly. Two of the alkyne boronates GC-MS spectra are represented below. (Figure 13) represent the chromatogram and mass spectra of the 1-pentyne after being functionalized with pinacol boronate ester with molecular weight of 194 amu, and (Figure 14) corresponds to boronated 4-ethynyl anisole with molecular weight 258 amu.



Figure 13. a. Total ion chromatogram of boronated 1-pentyne. b. mass spectrum of the compound with a retention time of 11.9 min.



**Figure 14. a.** Total ion chromatogram of boronated 4-ethynyl anisole. **b.** mass spectrum of the compound with a retention time of 17.7 min.

### **3.2 Reaction conditions optimization:**

Focusing on the main objective of this research for the sake of the synthesis of substituted hydrazones according to the proposed novel methodology, using zirconacyclopentene intermediate via a one-pot synthesis reaction, the alkyne phenylacetylene was chosen as a model to test our hypothesis using 0.1 ml scale of the alkyne to recognize the optimum reaction conditions upon changing several parameters including time, amount, temperature, and light (Table 1).

Later on, 1-heptyne, 5-chloro-1-pentyne, cyclohexyl acetylene, 1-pentyne, 5methyl-1-hexyne, diphenyl acetylene, 3-hexyne, and 4-ethynyl anisole were utilized as simple alkynes for hydrazone synthesis.

When we talk about time adjustment then as mentioned in section 2.7 there are three periods of time that we can adjust. The first was the reaction time of zirconocene dichloride with Grignard reagent to generate zirconocene species before the alkyne addition step, and this period was adjusted to one hour for all the performed trials, the second period was the time after adding the alkyne to form the intermediate before diazo addition step, during the first hour of this interval the temperature was maintained always at -78 °C.

The third period was the time after diazo addition where the reaction left for completion before its workup (Scheme12) and (Scheme 13). All the reaction trials represented on (Table 1) utilized (0.1 ml, 1 equiv.) of the alkyne phenylacetylene.



Scheme 12. The scope of this work of synthesis of hydrazones from simple alkynes.



Scheme 13. The scope of this work of the synthesis of hydrazone from boronated alkyne.

Entry	Reaction time (hr)	Temperature of diazoacetate addition (°C)	Diazoacetate equivalents	Exposure to light	Yield (%) <sup>a</sup>
1	Overnight	0	1.2	Yes	0
2	Overnight <sup>b</sup>	0	1.2	No	23.7
3	8 <sup>b</sup>	0	1.2	No	22
4	$7^{c}$	0	1.2	No	36.9
5	5.5 <sup>c</sup>	0	2.2	No	7
6	6 <sup>c</sup>	-78 followed by 1hr reflux	1.2	No	17
7	4.5 <sup>d</sup>	0	1.2	No	36.6
8	5.5 <sup>d</sup>	-78 °	1.2	No	21.5
9	$6^{d}$	-78 <sup>f</sup>	1.2	No	39.30

Table 1. Optimization of hydrazone synthesis reaction conditions.

<sup>a</sup> The isolated yield after purification with silica chromatography. <sup>b</sup> Stirring for 4 hr between alkyne and diazo. <sup>c</sup> Stirring for 3 hr between alkyne and diazo. <sup>d</sup> Stirring for 2 hr between alkyne and diazo. <sup>e</sup> Direct warming from -78 °C to room temperature. <sup>f</sup> Gradual warming from -78 °C to 0 °C to room temperature.

Zirconocene intermediate is sensitive to light and once the reaction was conducted in the presence of light without covering the reaction flask no hydrazone was obtained, so the rest of the reactions were performed with a flask covered completely with aluminum foil.

The utilized zirconium reagent was chosen to be  $Cp_2ZrCl_2$  since it is more stable and inexpensive and favored when compared to the commercially available Schwartz's reagent  $Cp_2ZrHCl$  which is more sensitive to light, air, and moisture and thus has a short shelf life.<sup>86</sup> Zirconocene ( $Cp_2Zr^{II}$ ) species once generated is sensitive to moisture and oxygen, thus the reaction atmosphere must be dried as much as possible and a nitrogen atmosphere is required.

Protic solvents are destructive as well, hence dried aprotic solvents were used either for precursors' preparation reactions or in the synthesis reaction itself. Moisture, oxygen, or polar solvents such as alcohols and acetone cause irreversible decomposition of zirconocene because of the formation of the strong (Zr-O) bond.<sup>87</sup>

Reaction time is important as well, this parameter was tested upon changing the time given for the formation of zirconocene intermediate before methyl diazoacetate addition to allow the reagents to react and form the intermediate, the results showed that the yield diminishes when a longer time is given for the intermediate formation, this could be ascribed to the intermediate breaking down since intermediates are known to be sensitive and unstable, thus two or three hours were quiet enough for this stage as indicated in (entries 4 and 7).

The results also show that the time needed for the reaction completion after methyl diazoacetate addition is between 2 to 3 hours as in (entry **9**). The subsequent performed reactions showed that 6 hours were enough for the formation of the product, furthermore, this product was quite stable even if the reaction was left for stirring overnight which made the time of proceeding the workup step more flexible. The temperature also clearly affects the results since it is a substantial parameter in the reaction mechanism as will be explained later on.

Based on the results obtained in (Table 1), the reaction methodology with the optimum reaction conditions includes stirring zirconocene with dry THF and Grignard reagent at -78 °C using dry ice in acetone for 1hr, followed by the addition of (1 equiv.) alkyne and stirring for 1 hour at -78 °C and an additional 1 hour at 0 °C, then the addition of (1.2 equiv.) methyl diazoacetate with stirring for 30 min at -78 °C then gradual warming with ice to 0 °C to room temperature before the reaction workup step.

All the previous steps must be conducted in the absence of light with completely dried conditions in the presence of nitrogen balloon attached to the reaction flask. Fifteen different hydrazones using fifteen different alkynes as starting materials were synthesized regarding these conditions and are demonstrated in (Table 2) and (Table 3).

From the structure of hydrazone as an organic compound it has a nonpolar structure bearing some polar functional groups, so 1-5% Et<sub>2</sub>O/hexane was chosen as the TLC mobile phase to have a retention factor of about 0.5 on the TLC plate. As mentioned before we used column chromatography to isolate pure components using silica as the stationary phase and 1-5% Et<sub>2</sub>O/hexane as the eluent. Two closed spots frequently appeared in this region with (R.F ~ 0.5) and were not easily isolated in pure fractions.

Many times, the two components were mixed in the isolated fractions. Those components were expected to be isomers since hydrazone can be formed in the E or Z conformations. The GC-MS results confirmed that both components are hydrazones with the same molecular weight, and thus interpreted with stereochemistry (Figure 15).



Figure 15. The isomers of methyl 2-(2-(3-phenylbut-3-en-1-yl)hydrazono)acetate.



In general, the percentage yield was not satisfying as it is supposed to be, TLC and GC-MS results indicate the formation of byproducts other than the desired hydrazone. According to the preliminary results on TLC using 1%  $Et_2O$ /hexane, the crude product from any reaction would separate every time at least into 4-5 spots. If we look to the prepared hydrazones on (Table 2) we will find that all of

them were prepared from terminal alkynes except **8** and **9** are synthesized from internal alkynes, and when the percentage yield of the hydrazone prepared from diphenyl acetylene and 3-hexyne the yield was increased to  $\sim 51\%$  for 3-hexynebased hydrazone, but does not differ that much for diphenyl acetylene.

The insufficient yield of the terminal alkynes-based hydrazones could be ascribed to the formation of more byproducts as a result of the high reactivity of the terminal alkynes with highly acidic hydrogen. The low yield of the hydrazone synthesized from diphenylacetylene could be attributed to steric hindrance due to the presence of two phenyl rings attached to the triple bond, in addition to electron delocalization of the electrons of the alkyne bond over the phenyl groups which stabilizes the alkyne and reduce its reactivity.

As a consequence, developing the methodology upon working on the same terminal alkynes but after being functionalized was proposed to be the efficient way. On the other hand, we can explain the decreased yield with loss of some of it within the disposed aqueous layer since quenching with HCl could cause protonation of the nitrogen of hydrazone, although it is not highly probable to occur but still possible with long contact time, thus neutralization with 10% NaOH until basification of the organic layer was proceeded to avoid nitrogen protonation.

Pinacol boronate ester was chosen for the functionalization in a regioselective manner, it was used frequently in the literature for alkynes' functionalization. On the other hand, the presence of boronate ester as a substituent of the hydrazone structure accesses further substitution of the synthesized compounds which means a wider range of applications and ability to control its bioactivity.

Four different alkynes were functionalized with pinacol boronate ester and then utilized for hydrazone synthesis. Hydrazones from boronated 1-pentyne, cyclohexyl acetylene, 5-chloro-1-pentyne, and 4-ethynyl anisole are listed in (Table 3). The pure compound was separated on column chromatography using (40% Ethyl acetate/Hexane) as the mobile phase.

Table 3. The synthesized hydrazones from the boronated alkynes.



## 3.3 The proposed reaction mechanism:

The proposed reaction mechanism demonstrated in (Scheme 14) is a stoichiometric mechanism. Starting from the reaction of stoichiometric quantities of zirconocene dichloride with Grignard (EtMgCl) in the solvent THF with stirring for one hour at -78°C.

Organomagnesium and organolithium reagents are strong bases, thus utilizing the Grignard reagent (EtMgCl) is crucial for the initialization of organozirconium (Cp<sub>2</sub>ZrEt<sub>2</sub>) to generate zirconocene (Cp<sub>2</sub>Zr) species in situ upon the formation of ethylene zirconocene complex, a  $\pi$  complex with ethylene which is responsible for the regioselective cross coupling reaction. However, such reagents need much care to be handled under dry conditions since they react with moisture easily forming the corresponding alkane.



Scheme 14. The proposed reaction mechanism

A Key transaction in a wealth of transition metals catalyzed reactions is an intramolecular process that causes  $\beta$  hydride transfer. In fact, this transformation

is a bane for a variety of organometallic reactions, however, it is the crucial step in this mechanism. In this process,  $\sigma$  complex is converted into a  $\pi$  complex which happens in the case of a metal with a vacant site, and thus usually favored by 16 electron metals as in zirconium complexes, attached to an alkyl group with hydrogen bonded to the carbon at the  $\beta$  position ( $\beta$  hydrogen) of the metal alkyl group.<sup>88</sup>

The  $\beta$  hydrogen should be able to align with the metal in a *syn* (in the same position) coplanar (in the same plane) arrangement with zero dihedral angle. The bond between the metal and the alkyl group is a nucleophilic bond polarized toward the carbon atom. Indeed, there are two tolerable mechanistic pathways for this very fast transfer process, those are  $\beta$  hydride elimination and  $\beta$  hydride abstraction.

 $\beta$  hydride elimination process, the reverse pathway of hydrometallation or migratory insertion reactions,<sup>76</sup> is well-known and involves the transfer of  $\beta$ hydride to the vacant site of the metal center after being eliminated from the alkyl group followed by a simultaneous reductive elimination step, in which two adjacent ligands, here are the hydrogen and the second ethyl group, form a stronger Et-H bond and leave the complex as ethane resulting in the formation of an alkene complex which is a metal hydride olefin complex which also exists as zirconocenecyclopropane intermediate since alkenes are Lewis bases and form a  $\pi$  complex upon using the pair of electrons in the  $\pi$  bond.  $\beta$  hydride abstraction is less common but occurs most frequently in the case of  $d^0$  metal dialkyl complexes, diethyl zirconocene in this work. Upon this pathway, one ethyl group uses the electrons bonding it with zirconium to abstract  $\beta$  hydrogen of the adjacent ethyl group, and then leaves the complex as the more stable ethane compound without forming the intermediate of metal-hydride that formed in the previously discussed hydride elimination.<sup>89</sup> Simultaneously, the electrons of the abstracted hydrogen at the  $\beta$  carbon form a new bond with zirconium resulting in zirconocenecyclopropane which could also exist as Zr(II) ethylene  $\pi$  complex, this implies that whether elimination or abstraction process occurs, the same products will come up.<sup>76,88–90</sup>

The generated  $\pi$  complex still has 16 valence electrons thus considered coordinatively unsaturated, and when the alkyne boronate is added to the zirconocenecyclopropane complex an addition reaction occurs in which the alkyne  $\pi$  bond electrons bind to the metal center to form an intermediate with 18 valence electrons. This intermediate undergoes a subsequent cyclization step via the intramolecular insertion reaction to form a 16-electron cyclopentene complex as an intermediate before diazo addition. Such coupling reactions are reversible in general and the reaction conditions contribute to the formation of the thermodynamic product.<sup>91</sup>

Terminal alkynes, having sp hybridized C–H bond with 50% s-character, are acidic with  $pK_a$  of about 25, thus able to be easily deprotonated by the strong base

n-BuLi.<sup>76</sup> Alkynyllithium (n-BuLi), as a strong base with (pKa  $\approx$  50),<sup>92</sup> was reacted with borate ester to form alkyne boronate as shown in (Scheme 15). In this way, the utilization of terminal alkyne in the presence of reactive acidic hydrogen was avoided and the structures of the synthesized hydrazones from boronated alkynes facilitate further functionalization of the product with new substituents easily.

Indeed, the presence of boronate ester as a substituent of the hydrazone structure could affect the potential to generate different isomers as a result of the effect of steric hindrance caused by the boronate moiety.



Scheme 15. The mechanism of the preparation reaction of boronated alkynes.

As mentioned before, diazo compounds have been rarely used to react as electrophiles and limited studies demonstrated their reactions as electrophiles with organometallics which is ascribed to the high reactivity of the generated intermediates.<sup>93</sup> From a kinetic point of view, methyl diazoacetate will react as a nucleophile, therefore, the low temperature of -78 °C is crucial to be maintained when methyl diazoacetate is added to allow the kinetic product to form and mitigate the potential of diazoacetate to interact as a nucleophile.

The Zr-C bond is still nucleophilic and polarized to the more electronegative carbon atom, and once the diazo compound is added, the nucleophilic carbon attack the electrophilic nitrogen of diazoacetate with breaking the Zr-O bond. A simultaneous cyclization step takes place since the diazo moiety has 1,3 dipolar character and the nucleophilic carbon adjacent to the two nitrogen atoms will directly attack the electropositive zirconium metal to form an eight-membered ring intermediate.

Although it is known that intermediates with five and six-membered rings are more stable than the unfamiliar eight-membered rings, this case is possible for zirconium compounds according to the literature, in which strained three and four-membered rings and unusual ten and eleven-membered metallocycles were confirmed to generate as intermediates in several zirconocene-based syntheses reaction.<sup>94–97</sup> The last step of the reaction mechanism is reductive elimination when the reaction is quenched with HCl to form the hydrazone while zirconcene is eliminated as Cp<sub>2</sub>ZrCl<sub>2</sub> again, however, this complex mostly will not be stable in the aqueous and acidic conditions.

## **3.4 Hydrazone characterization results:**

After separation of the crude product on column chromatography with the preliminary results of TLC the pure fractions with the retention factor  $\sim 0.4-0.5$  were analyzed directly with GC-MS.

#### 3.4.1 Analysis with GC-MS:

Methyl (E)-2-(2-(3-phenylbut-3-en-1-yl)hydrazineylidene)acetate (1):



This compound has a molecular weight of 232 amu, according to its chromatogram (Figure 16.a), there is two closed peaks at retention times 27.42 and 27.98 respectively and with nearly the same mass and the fragmentation pattern, this can be explained with stereochemistry as discussed previously, in which one of them represent the Z isomer and the other is E isomer, and such isomers would not easily separate on silica with column chromatography.





Figure 16. a. Total ion chromatogram of the fraction containing the hydrazone (1). b. mass spectrum of the peak with a retention time of 27.98 min.

Methyl (E)-2-(2-((E)-3-ethylhex-3-en-1-yl)hydrazineylidene)acetate (8):



The results obtained from GC-MS analysis of the pure fraction of the synthesized hydrazone from 3-hexyne are shown in (Figure 17) where representative total ion chromatogram of the analyzed fraction is provided in (Figure 17.a) and the mass spectrum of the major peak with retention time of 11.8 min is represented in (Figure 17.b) and confirm the existence of the product with the molecular ion mass of 212 amu. The fragmentation pattern also matches with the product structure.



Figure 17. a. Total ion chromatogram of the fraction containing the hydrazone (8). b. mass spectrum of the major peak with a retention time of 11.8 min.

Methyl (E)-2-(2-(3-(4-methoxyphenyl)but-3-en-1-yl)hydrazineylidene)acetate (9)



The molecular mass of the hydrazone (9) is 262 amu, this compound is confirmed with the mass spectrum in (Figure 18.b) at retention time of 19.7 min. The peak with retention time of 11.7 min in the chromatogram (Figure 18.a) refers to butylated hydroxy toluene (BHT) which exist in most of the demonstrated GC chromatograms at the same retention time. BHT is a well-known antioxidant additive in a variety of the organic solvents.



Figure 18. a. Total ion chromatogram of the fraction containing the hydrazone (9). b. mass spectrum of the major peak with a retention time of 19.7 min.

methyl (E)-2-(2-((Z)-3-cyclohexyl-4-(4,4,5,5-tetramethyl-1,3,2-dioxaborolan-2-yl)but-3-en-1-yl)hydrazineylidene)acetate (11):



The molecular weight of the hydrazone (11) is 364 amu and matches its mass spectrum (Figure 19.b) and according to its chromatogram (Figure 19.a) this fraction was not totally pure.



**Figure 19. a.** Total ion chromatogram of the fraction containing the hydrazone (**11**). **b.** mass spectrum of the major peak with a retention time of 21.5 min.

#### **3.4.2 Characterization with NMR:**

NMR as a sophisticated analysis technique is reliable to emphasize the compound structure through providing structural information about carbon and hydrogen in different functional groups within a compound. <sup>13</sup>C-NMR and <sup>1</sup>H-NMR (80 MHz in CDCl<sub>3</sub>) was conducted for some fractions.

## Methyl (E)-2-(2-((E)-3-ethylhex-3-en-1-yl)hydrazineylidene)acetate (8):

<sup>1</sup>H-NMR spectrum for the same compound represented in (Figure 20). The peak which appeared in all <sup>1</sup>H-NMR spectra at 7.26 ppm is the residual of CDCl<sub>3</sub> peak. Another peak appeared in several spectra at ~ 3.2 ppm is attributed to the solvent diethyl ether, the other triplet peak of the methyl groups of diethyl ether may merged with the product methyl groups. The fraction containing the pure compound **8** was analyzed with <sup>13</sup>C-NMR and <sup>1</sup>H-NMR and the <sup>13</sup>C-NMR spectrum is demonstrated in (Figure 21) followed by spectrum chemical shifts analysis in (Table 4).



Figure 20. <sup>1</sup>H-NMR spectrum of the hydrazone (8).

 Table 4. Chemical shifts analysis of <sup>13</sup>C-NMR signals of the synthesized hydrazone (8)

Signal	Chemical shift (ppm)	Functional group
1	13.16	sp <sup>3</sup> carbon (-CH <sub>3</sub> )
2	14.47	sp <sup>3</sup> carbon (-CH <sub>3</sub> )
3	20.83	sp <sup>3</sup> allylic carbon (-CH <sub>2</sub> -)
4	22.39	sp <sup>3</sup> allylic carbon (-CH <sub>2</sub> -)
5	33.63	sp <sup>3</sup> allylic carbon (-CH <sub>2</sub> -)
6	44.01	sp <sup>3</sup> carbon (-CH <sub>2</sub> -NH)
7	51.63	sp <sup>3</sup> ester carbon (O-CH <sub>3</sub> )
8	120.46	sp <sup>2</sup> vinylic carbon (=CH-)
9	129.64	sp <sup>2</sup> hydrazone carbon (N=CH-CO)



Figure 21. <sup>13</sup>C-NMR spectrum of the hydrazone (8).

# Methyl (E)-2-(2-(3-(4-methoxyphenyl)but-3-en-1-yl)hydrazineylidene)acetate (9)

<sup>1</sup>H-NMR spectrum for the compound (9) represented in (Figure 22). The signal at  $\sim 2.5$  ppm is not a real quartet this could be attributed to impurities or the effect of the vinylic hydrogens. The signal at 1.5 ppm could appear due to the presence of traces of hexane solvent.



Figure 22. <sup>1</sup>H-NMR spectrum of the hydrazone (9).

# methyl (E)-2-(2-((E)-6-chloro-3-((4,4,5,5-tetramethyl-1,3,2-dioxaborolan-2yl)methylene)hexyl)hydrazineylidene)acetate (12):

According to <sup>1</sup>H-NMR spectrum of this compound (Figure 23) there is no clear singlet peak between 1-2.5 ppm to describe the hydrogens of the four methyl groups in the boronate ester moiety, so we could ascribe that to the hydrolysis of the boronate ester into boronic acid and the peaks of the two (OH) group could be either overlapped with the multiplet peak at 3.5 ppm, or exist at 4.8 ppm as a tiny broad peak.



Figure 23. <sup>1</sup>H-NMR spectrum of the hydrazone (12) after hydrolysis.

# Methyl (E)-2-(2-((Z)-3-cyclohexyl-4-(4,4,5,5-tetramethyl-1,3,2dioxaborolan-2-yl)but-3-en-1-yl)hydrazineylidene)acetate (11):

According to <sup>1</sup>H-NMR spectrum of this compound (Figure 24) the hydrogens of the cyclohexyl group usually overlap as a distorted multiplets. The signals are compatible with the structure of the hydrazone which confirms its identiy.


Figure 24. <sup>1</sup>H-NMR spectrum of the hydrazone (11) after hydrolysis.

## **3.5 Expected reaction byproducts:**

In this methodology all the reagents and reactions must be dealt with in the absence of oxygen and moisture, but complete and perfect isolation mostly will not be achieved, thus from the highly probable byproducts to form is the hydrolyzed form of the five membered ring intermediate in which the alkyne will be converted to alkene and will not be suitable for cross coupling reaction with methyl diazoacetate. (Figure 25) demonstrate some of the possible byproducts. GC-MS of some of the separated fractions from column chromatography supports this supposition. Furthermore, in the case of boronated hydrazones, it is known

that the boronate ester moiety is a center for further substitution, which means it could be easily hydrolyzed to form the corresponding boronic acid with loss of 2,3-dimethylbutane, this will affect hydrazone's solubility and polarity as well.



Figure 25. Some of the possible byproducts from the synthesis reaction.

## **Chapter 4. Conclusion and Future Studies**

In this work thirteen different hydrazone compounds were synthesized with the proposed methodology, using Cp<sub>2</sub>ZrCl<sub>2</sub>/EtMgCl reagent which was reacted with the highly reactive simple alkynes and more stable boronated alkynes to form the key intermediate that converted into hydrazone after cross coupling reaction with diazo acetate in a regioselective manner. The reaction conditions directly affect the yield of the product, for example, all the addition steps of the precursors to the reaction flask have to be conducted at low temperatures of about -78 °C to control the yield of the thermodynamic product. The isolated hydrazones showed high stability with time and analyzed with GC-MS and NMR techniques.

Hydrazone synthesis with this methodology has been accomplished, and further optimization of the product yield and purity could be achieved. For example, a using catalyst may be effective, in addition, utilizing more stable diazo compounds other than methyl diazo acetate would avoid its decomposition or hydrolysis and affect the yield as a consequence. On the other hand, the synthesized hydrazones substituted with either boronate ester or boronic acid moieties could be easily substituted with alkyl halides for example to enhance its application or its bioactivity. The biological activity of all the isolated hydrazones has to be tested. X-ray crystallography is significant to confirm the previously discussed results of products spectra. The investigated methodology in this work is flexible and valuable, it is capable of being modified in several ways to synthesize novel and substantial organic compounds since zirconocene intermediates are clearly efficient in the field of cross-coupling reactions.

## References

- (1) Rollas, S.; Güniz Küçükgüzel, Ş. Biological Activities of Hydrazone Derivatives. *Molecules* **2007**, *12*, 1910–1939.
- (2) Zhang, M.; Shang, Z. R.; Li, X. T.; Zhang, J. N.; Wang, Y.; Li, K.; Li, Y. Y.; Zhang, Z. H. Simple and Efficient Approach for Synthesis of Hydrazones from Carbonyl Compounds and Hydrazides Catalyzed by Meglumine. *Synth Commun* 2017, 47 (2), 178–187. https://doi.org/10.1080/00397911.2016.1258476.
- (3) Raczuk, E.; Dmochowska, B.; Samaszko-Fiertek, J.; Madaj, J. Different Schiff Bases—Structure, Importance and Classification. *Molecules* 2022, 27 (3). https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules27030787.
- (4) Moreira Pereira, T.; Eugen Kümmerle, A. Hydrazone-Based Small-Molecule Chemosensors. In *Computational Biology and Chemistry*; 2020. https://doi.org/10.5772/intechopen.92144.
- (5) Mali, S. N.; Thorat, B. R.; Gupta, D. R.; Pandey, A. Mini-Review of the Importance of Hydrazides and Their Derivatives—Synthesis and Biological Activity. *Engineering Proceedings* 2021, 11 (1). https://doi.org/10.3390/ASEC2021-11157.
- (6) Ambreen, J.; Khachfe, H. M.; Kizilbash, N. A Review of Synthetic Approaches and Biological Activity of Substituted Hydrazones. *Anal Chem Ind J* **2021**, *21* (5), 170.
- (7) Zaidi, S. H. H.; Hai, A.; Abo Nawar, B. R. Properties and Uses of Substituted Hydrazones. *Journal of Pharmaceutical and Applied Chemistry* 2018, 4 (1), 17–21. https://doi.org/10.18576/jpac/040103.
- (8) Vijayakumar, R.; Senbagam, R.; Rajarajan, M.; Manikandan, V.; Balaji, S.; Vanangamudi, G.; Thirunarayanan, G. Synthesis, Study of Structure Activity Relationship and Evaluation of Biological Activities of Substituted (E)-2-Benzylidene-N-Methylhyrazinecarbothioamides. *Malaysian Journal of Fundamental and Applied Sciences* 2017, *12* (4). https://doi.org/10.11113/mjfas.v12n4.442.

- (9) Manikandan, R.; Viswanathamurthi, P.; Muthukumar, M. Ruthenium(II) Hydrazone Schiff Base Complexes: Synthesis, Spectral Study and Catalytic Applications. *Spectrochim Acta A Mol Biomol Spectrosc* 2011, 83 (1), 297– 303. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.saa.2011.08.033.
- (10) Bhaskar, R.; Salunkhe, N.; Yaul, A.; Aswar, A. Bivalent Transition Metal Complexes of ONO Donor Hydrazone Ligand: Synthesis, Structural Characterization and Antimicrobial Activity. *Spectrochim Acta A Mol Biomol Spectrosc* 2015, 151, 621–627. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.saa.2015.06.121.
- (11) Sharma, P. C.; Sharma, D.; Sharma, A.; Saini, N.; Goyal, R.; Ola, M.; Chawla, R.; Thakur, V. K. Hydrazone Comprising Compounds as Promising Anti-Infective Agents: Chemistry and Structure-Property Relationship. *Mater Today Chem* **2020**, *18*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mtchem.2020.100349.
- (12) Wahbeh, J.; Milkowski, S. The Use of Hydrazones for Biomedical Applications. *SLAS Technology*. SAGE Publications Inc. April 1, 2019, pp 161–168. https://doi.org/10.1177/2472630318822713.
- (13) Wu, J.; Huang, C.; Wang, J.; Hu, D.; Jin, L.; Yang, S.; Song, B. Separation, Interconversion, and Insecticidal Activity of the Cis- and Trans-Isomers of Novel Hydrazone Derivatives. *J Sep Sci* 2013, *36* (3), 602–608. https://doi.org/10.1002/jssc.201200693.
- (14) Moreira Pereira, T.; Eugen Kümmerle, A. Hydrazone-Based Small-Molecule Chemosensors. In *Computational Biology and Chemistry*; 2020. https://doi.org/10.5772/intechopen.92144.
- (15) Zheng, L. Q.; Yang, S.; Krähenbühl, S.; Rybkin, V. V.; Lan, J.; Aprahamian, I.; Zenobi, R. Effect of the Alkyl Linker Length on the Photoisomerization of Hydrazone Switches on Metal Surfaces. *Mater Today Chem* 2022, 24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mtchem.2022.100797.
- (16) Wu, B. X.; Chang, H. Y.; Liao, Y. S.; Yeh, M. Y. Synthesis, Photochemical Isomerization and Photophysical Properties of Hydrazide-Hydrazone Derivatives. *New Journal of Chemistry* 2021, 45 (3), 1651–1657. https://doi.org/10.1039/d0nj05172a.

- (17) Su, X.; Aprahamian, I. Hydrazone-Based Switches, Metallo-Assemblies and Sensors. *Chemical Society Reviews*. Royal Society of Chemistry March 21, 2014, pp 1963–1981. https://doi.org/10.1039/c3cs60385g.
- (18) Barton, D. H. R.; Bashiardes, G.; Fourrey, J. L. Studies on the Oxidation of Hydrazones with Iodine and with Phenylselenenyl Bromide in the Presence of Strong Organic Bases; an Improved Procedure for the Synthesis of Vinyl Iodides and Phenyl-Vinyl Selenides. *Tetrahedron* **1988**, *44* (1). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0040-4020(01)85102-4.
- (19) Ghavre, M. Bamford-Stevens and Shapiro Reactions in Organic Synthesis. Asian Journal of Organic Chemistry. Wiley-VCH Verlag December 1, 2020, pp 1901–1923. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajoc.202000336.
- (20) Li, C. J.; Huang, J.; Dai, X. J.; Wang, H.; Chen, N.; Wei, W.; Zeng, H.; Tang, J.; Li, C.; Zhu, D.; Lv, L. An Old Dog with New Tricks: Enjoin Wolff-Kishner Reduction for Alcohol Deoxygenation and C-C Bond Formations. *Synlett* 2019, *30* (13), 1508–1524. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0037-1611853.
- (21) Vargas, D. F.; Romero, B. S.; Kaufman, T. S.; Larghi, E. L. On the Use of CeCl3.7H2O as a Catalyst for the Synthesis of Hydrazones Derived from Aromatic Aldehydes and Ketones. *MDPI* 2021, 82. https://doi.org/10.3390/ecsoc-24-08095.
- (22) Dandawate, P.; Khan, E.; Padhye, S.; Gaba, H.; Sinha, S.; Deshpande, J.; Venkateswara Swamy, K.; Khetmalas, M.; Ahmad, A.; Sarkar, F. H. Synthesis, Characterization, Molecular Docking and Cytotoxic Activity of Novel Plumbagin Hydrazones against Breast Cancer Cells. *Bioorg Med Chem Lett* 2012, 22 (9), 3104–3108. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bmcl.2012.03.060.
- (23) Biliz, Y.; Hasdemir, B.; Başpınar Küçük, H.; Zaim, M.; Şentürk, A. M.; Müdüroğlu Kırmızıbekmez, A.; Kara, İ. Novel N -Acyl Hydrazone Compounds as Promising Anticancer Agents: Synthesis and Molecular Docking Studies. ACS Omega 2023. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsomega.3c02361.
- (24) Khattab, R. R.; Hassan, A. A.; Kutkat, O. M.; Abuzeid, K. M.; Hassan, N. A. Synthesis and Antiviral Activity of Novel Thieno[2,3-d]Pyrimidine Hydrazones and Their C-Nucleosides. *Russ J Gen Chem* 2019, *89* (8), 1707–1717. https://doi.org/10.1134/S1070363219080267.

- (25) Yang, Z.; Li, P.; Gan, X. Novel Pyrazole-Hydrazone Derivatives Containing an Isoxazole Moiety: Design, Synthesis, and Antiviral Activity. *Molecules* 2018, 23 (7). https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules23071798.
- (26) Moldovan, C. M.; Oniga, O.; Pârvu, A.; Tiperciuc, B.; Verite, P.; Pîrnău, A.; Crişan, O.; Bojiţă, M.; Pop, R. Synthesis and Anti-Inflammatory Evaluation of Some New Acyl-Hydrazones Bearing 2-Aryl-Thiazole. *Eur J Med Chem* 2011, 46 (2), 526–534. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmech.2010.11.032.
- (27) Kajal, A.; Bala, S.; Sharma, N.; Kamboj, S.; Saini, V. Therapeutic Potential of Hydrazones as Anti-Inflammatory Agents. *Int J Med Chem* 2014, 2014, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/761030.
- (28) Zha, G. F.; Leng, J.; Darshini, N.; Shubhavathi, T.; Vivek, H. K.; Asiri, A. M.; Marwani, H. M.; Rakesh, K. P.; Mallesha, N.; Qin, H. L. Synthesis, SAR and Molecular Docking Studies of Benzo[d]Thiazole-Hydrazones as Potential Antibacterial and Antifungal Agents. *Bioorg Med Chem Lett* 2017, 27 (14), 3148–3155. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bmcl.2017.05.032.
- (29) Ortiz, S.; Nelson, R.; Kesternich, V.; Pérez-Fehrmann, M.; Christen, P.; And,
  L. M. SYNTHESIS AND ANTIFUNGAL ACTIVITY OF DIARYL
  HYDRAZONES FROM 2,4-DINITROPHENYLHYDRAZINE; 2016; Vol. 61.
- (30) Popiołek, Ł. Updated Information on Antimicrobial Activity of Hydrazide– Hydrazones. Int J Mol Sci 2021, 22 (17). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms22179389.
- (31) Popiołek, Ł. Hydrazide–Hydrazones as Potential Antimicrobial Agents: Overview of the Literature since 2010. *Medicinal Chemistry Research* 2017, 26 (2), 287–301. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00044-016-1756-y.
- (32) Asif, M.; Husain, A. Analgesic, Anti-Inflammatory, and Antiplatelet Profile of Hydrazones Containing Synthetic Molecules. *Journal of Applied Chemistry* **2013**, *2013*, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/247203.
- (33) Haj, K.; Ebrahim Tehrani, M.; Esfahanizadeh, M.; Mashayekhi, V.; Hashemi, M.; Kobarfard, F.; Gharebaghi, F.; Mohebbi, S. Synthesis, Antiplatelet Activity and Cytotoxicity Assessment of Indole-Based Hydrazone Derivatives. *Shaheed Beheshti University of Medical Sciences and Health Services Iranian Journal of Pharmaceutical Research* 2015, *14* (4), 1077–1086.

- (34) Angelova, V.; Karabeliov, V.; Andreeva-Gateva, P. A.; Tchekalarova, J. Recent Developments of Hydrazide/Hydrazone Derivatives and Their Analogs as Anticonvulsant Agents in Animal Models. *Drug Dev Res* 2016, 77 (7), 379–392. https://doi.org/10.1002/ddr.21329.
- (35) Emami, S.; Valipour, M.; Kazemi Komishani, F.; Sadati-Ashrafi, F.; Rasoulian, M.; Ghasemian, M.; Tajbakhsh, M.; Honarchian Masihi, P.; Shakiba, A.; Irannejad, H.; Ahangar, N. Synthesis, in Silico, in Vitro and in Vivo Evaluations of Isatin Aroylhydrazones as Highly Potent Anticonvulsant Agents. 2021, 112. **Bioorg** Chem https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bioorg.2021.104943.
- (36) Nocheva, H.; Vladimirova, S.; Tzankova, D.; Peikova, L.; Georgieva, M. Analgesic Properties of Newly Synthesized N-Pyrrolyl Hydrazide Hydrazones. *Tropical Journal of Pharmaceutical Research* 2023, 22 (1), 121–127. https://doi.org/10.4314/tjpr.v22i1.17.
- (37) Alsaif, N. A.; Bhat, M. A.; Al-Omar, M. A.; Al-Tuwajiri, H. M.; Naglah, A. M.; Al-Dhfyan, A. Synthesis of Novel Diclofenac Hydrazones: Molecular Docking, Anti-Inflammatory, Analgesic, and Ulcerogenic Activity. *J Chem* 2020, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1155/2020/4916726.
- (38) Mathew, B.; Suresh, J.; Ahsan, M.; Mathew, G.; Usman, D.; Subramanyan, P.; Safna, K.; Maddela, S. Hydrazones as a Privileged Structural Linker in Antitubercular Agents: A Review. *Infect Disord Drug Targets* 2015, *15* (2), 76–88. https://doi.org/10.2174/1871526515666150724104411.
- (39) Abdel-Aziz, H. A.; Eldehna, W. M.; Fares, M.; Al-Rashood, S. T. A.; Al-Rashood, K. A.; Abdel-Aziz, M. M.; Soliman, D. H. Synthesis, Biological Evaluation and 2D-QSAR Study of Halophenyl Bis-Hydrazones as Antimicrobial and Antitubercular Agents. *Int J Mol Sci* 2015, *16* (4), 8719–8743. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms16048719.
- (40) Verma, G.; Marella, A.; Shaquiquzzaman, M.; Akhtar, M.; Ali, M. R.; Alam, M. M. A Review Exploring Biological Activities of Hydrazones. *J Pharm Bioallied Sci* 2014, 6 (2), 69–80. https://doi.org/10.4103/0975-7406.129170.
- (41) Nikolova-Mladenova, B.; Ivanov, D. Synthesis of New Co(II) Complexes with 3-Methoxy-Salicylaldehyde Based Hydrazones as a Possible Approach in the Treatment of Cobalt Poisoning. *Journal of Medical and Biological Sciences* **2015**.

- (42) Kalinowski, D. S.; Sharpe, P. C.; Bernhardt, P. V.; Richardson, D. R. Structure-Activity Relationships of Novel Iron Chelators for the Treatment of Iron Overload Disease: The Methyl Pyrazinylketone Isonicotinoyl Hydrazone Series. *J Med Chem* 2008, *51* (2), 331–344. https://doi.org/10.1021/jm7012562.
- (43) Liew, S. K.; Malagobadan, S.; Arshad, N. M.; Nagoor, N. H. A Review of the Structure—Activity Relationship of Natural and Synthetic Antimetastatic Compounds. *Biomolecules* 2020, 10 (1). https://doi.org/10.3390/biom10010138.
- (44) Fong, C. W. Free Radical Anticancer Drugs and Oxidative Stress: ORAC and CellROX-Colorectal Cancer Cells by Quantum Chemical Determinations; Australia, 2018. https://hal.science/hal-01859315.
- (45) Aggarwal, V.; Tuli, H. S.; Varol, A.; Thakral, F.; Yerer, M. B.; Sak, K.; Varol, M.; Jain, A.; Khan, M. A.; Sethi, G. Role of Reactive Oxygen Species in Cancer Progression: Molecular Mechanisms and Recent Advancements. *Biomolecules* 2019, 9 (11). https://doi.org/10.3390/biom9110735.
- (46) Koopaei, N. N.; Shademani, M.; Yazdi, N. S.; Tahmasvand, R.; Dehbid, M.; Koopaei, M. N.; Azizian, H.; Mousavi, Z.; Almasirad, A.; Salimi, M. Design and Synthesis of Novel Ureido and Thioureido Conjugated Hydrazone Derivatives with Potent Anticancer Activity. *BMC Chem* 2022, *16* (1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13065-022-00873-3.
- (47) Saini, D.; Gupta, M. Hydrazones as Potential Anticancer Agents: An Update. Asian J Pharm Pharmacol 2018, 4 (2), 116–122. https://doi.org/10.31024/ajpp.2018.4.2.4.
- (48) Pisk, J.; Đilović, I.; Hrenar, T.; Cvijanović, D.; Pavlović, G.; Vrdoljak, V. Effective Methods for the Synthesis of Hydrazones, Quinazolines, and Schiff Bases: Reaction Monitoring Using a Chemometric Approach. *RSC Adv* 2020, *10* (63), 38566–38577. https://doi.org/10.1039/d0ra06845d.
- (49) Zaidi, S. H. H.; Hai, A.; Abo Nawar, B. R. Properties and Uses of Substituted Hydrazones. *Journal of Pharmaceutical and Applied Chemistry* 2018, 4 (1), 17–21. https://doi.org/10.18576/jpac/040103.
- (50) Hossain, M. Z. Synthesis, Characterization and Structural Optimization Using Density Functional Theory of Hydrazone Schiff Base Derivatives,

Khulna University of Engineering & Technology (KUET), Bangladesh, 2019.

- (51) Abid, O. U. R.; Khatoon, G.; Arfan, M.; Sajid, I.; Langer, P.; Rehman, W.; Rahim, F.; Yasir, M.; Waqar, M.; Haleem, K. S. Synthesis of Hydrazones from Amino Acids and Their Antimicrobial and Cytotoxic Activities. *Journal of the Chinese Chemical Society* **2017**, *64* (9), 1079–1087. https://doi.org/10.1002/jccs.201600859.
- (52) Abid, O. U. R.; Khatoon, G.; Arfan, M.; Sajid, I.; Langer, P.; Rehman, W.; Rahim, F.; Yasir, M.; Waqar, M.; Haleem, K. S. Synthesis of Hydrazones from Amino Acids and Their Antimicrobial and Cytotoxic Activities. *Journal of the Chinese Chemical Society* **2017**, *64* (9), 1079–1087. https://doi.org/10.1002/jccs.201600859.
- (53) Afsah, E. M.; Elmorsy, S. S.; Abdelmageed, S. M.; Zaki, Z. E. Synthesis of Some New Hydrazide-Hydrazones Related to Isatin and Its Mannich and Schiff Bases. *Zeitschrift fur Naturforschung - Section B Journal of Chemical Sciences* **2016**, *71* (11), 1147–1157. https://doi.org/10.1515/znb-2016-0130.
- (54) Gusevskaya, E. V. Organometallic Catalysis: Some Contributions to Organic Synthesis. *Quim Nova* 2003, 26 (2). https://doi.org/10.1590/S0100-40422003000200017.
- (55) Chirik, P. J. Group 4 Transition Metal Sandwich Complexes: Still Fresh after Almost 60 Years. *Organometallics* **2010**, *29* (7), 1500–1517. https://doi.org/10.1021/om100016p.
- (56) Marek, Ilan. *Titanium and Zirconium in Organic Synthesis*; Wiley-VCH, 2002.
- (57) Angpanitcharoen, P.; Lamb, J. V.; Buffet, J. C.; Turner, Z. R.; O'Hare, D. Synthesis of Zirconocene Complexes and Their Use in Slurry-Phase Polymerisation of Ethylene. *RSC Adv* 2021, *11* (19), 11529–11535. https://doi.org/10.1039/d1ra01912k.
- (58) Bond, G. P. Metallocenes. In *Patty's Toxicology, Sixth Edition*; 2012; Vol. Volume 1, pp 23–33.
- (59) Shamiri, A.; Chakrabarti, M. H.; Jahan, S.; Hussain, M. A.; Kaminsky, W.; Aravind, P. V.; Yehye, W. A. The Influence of Ziegler-Natta and

Metallocene Catalysts on Polyolefin Structure, Properties, and Processing Ability. *Materials* **2014**, 7 (7), 5069–5108. https://doi.org/10.3390/ma7075069.

- (60) de Lima, S. C. N.; Soares, E. P.; Andreoli, M.; Chiba, R.; Seo, E. S. M. Characterization of Metallic Zirconium Sponge. *Materials Science Forum* 2015, 805, 700–705. https://doi.org/10.4028/www.scientific.net/MSF.805.700.
- (61) Albarghouti, G.; Sadi, H. Recent Modifications of Zirconia in Dentistry. In *Zirconia New Advances, Structure, Fabrication and Applications*; Al-Naib, U., Ed.; IntechOpen, 2023. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.5772/intechopen.111891.
- (62) Albarghouti, G.; Darwish, S. Processing of Zirconia. In Zirconia New Advances, Structure, Fabrication and Applications; Al-Naib, U., Ed.; IntechOpen, 2023.
- (63) Babasaheb D Sonawane; Vikas D Sonawane; Kailas D Sonawane; Maruti J Dhanavade; Chetan B Aware; Sharad K Awate; Suresh V Patil. Cp2ZrCl2: An Efficient Catalyst For Multicomponent Synthesis Of Carotenoid Dehydrosqualene Synthase Inhibiting Pyrano[2,3,d]Pyrimidinediones. Asian Journal of Pharmaceutical and Clinical Research 2019. https://doi.org/10.22159/ajpcr.2019.v12i2.26862.
- (64) Wilkinson, G.; Birmingham, J. M. Bis-Cyclopentadienyl Compounds of Ti, Zr, V, Nb and Ta. J Am Chem Soc 1954, 76 (17). https://doi.org/10.1021/ja01646a008.
- (65) Negishi, E. I.; Takahashi, T. Organozirconium Compounds in Organic Synthesis. *Synthesis* **1988**, *1988* (1). https://doi.org/10.1055/s-1988-27453.
- (66) Qiu, R.; Xu, X.; Peng, L.; Zhao, Y.; Li, N.; Yin, S. Strong Lewis Acids of Air-Stable Metallocene Bis(Perfluorooctanesulfonate)s as High-Efficiency Catalysts for Carbonyl-Group Transformation Reactions. *Chemistry A European Journal* 2012, *18* (20), 6172–6182. https://doi.org/10.1002/chem.201103874.
- (67) Albarghouti, G.; Rayyan, S. General Method for the Synthesis of Substituted Cyclopentenones via α-Borylzirconacyclopentene

Intermediates. *Org Prep Proced Int* **2020**, *52* (1), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1080/00304948.2019.1677998.

- (68) Gessner, V. H.; Tannaci, J. F.; Miller, A. D.; Tilley, T. D. Assembly of Macrocycles by Zirconocene-Mediated, Reversible Carbon-Carbon Bond Formation. Acc Chem Res 2011, 44 (6), 435–446. https://doi.org/10.1021/ar100148g.
- (69) Moss, M.; Han, X.; Ready, J. M. Zirconocene-Mediated Carbonylative Coupling of Grignard Reagents. *Angewandte Chemie - International Edition* 2016, 55 (34), 10017–10021. https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.201603133.
- (70) Negishi, E. ichi; Cederbaum, F. E.; Takahashi, T. Reaction of Zirconocene Dichloride with Alkyllithiums or Alkyl Grignard Reagents as a Convenient Method for Generating a "Zirconocene" Equivalant and Its Use in Zirconium-Promoted Cyclization of Alkenes, Alkynes, Dienes, Enynes, and Diynes. *Tetrahedron Lett* **1986**, 27 (25). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0040-4039(00)84653-5.
- (71) Urrego-Riveros, S.; Ramirez y Medina, I. M.; Duvinage, D.; Lork, E.; Sönnichsen, F. D.; Staubitz, A. Negishi's Reagent Versus Rosenthal's Reagent in the Formation of Zirconacyclopentadienes. *Chemistry A European Journal* 2019, 25 (58), 13318–13328. https://doi.org/10.1002/chem.201902255.
- (72) Stephen L. Buchwald; Susan J. LaMaire; Ralph B. Nielsen; Brett T. Watson; Susan M. King. Schwartz's Reagent. Organic Syntheses 1993, 71, 77. https://doi.org/10.15227/orgsyn.071.0077.
- (73) Doyle, M. P. Transition Metal Carbene Complexes: Diazodecomposition, Ylide, and Insertion. In *Comprehensive Organometallic Chemistry II*; 1995. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-008046519-7.00117-9.
- (74) Fulton, J. R.; Aggarwal, V. K.; De Vicente, J. The Use of Tosylhydrazone Salts as a Safe Alternative for Handling Diazo Compounds and Their Applications in Organic Synthesis. *European J Org Chem* 2005, No. 8, 1479–1492. https://doi.org/10.1002/ejoc.200400700.

- (75) Álvarez, M.; Besora, M.; Molina, F.; Maseras, F.; Belderrain, T. R.; Pérez, P. J. Two Copper-Carbenes from One Diazo Compound. *J Am Chem Soc* 2021, *143* (12), 4837–4843. https://doi.org/10.1021/jacs.1c01483.
- (76) Clayden, J.; Greeves, N.; Warren, S. Organic Chemistry Second Edition; 2012. https://doi.org/10.1093/hesc/9780199270293.001.0001.
- (77) Li, W.; Liu, X.; Hao, X.; Hu, X.; Chu, Y.; Cao, W.; Qin, S.; Hu, C.; Lin, L.; Feng, X. New Electrophilic Addition of α-Diazoesters with Ketones for Enantioselective C-N Bond Formation. *J Am Chem Soc* 2011, *133* (39), 15268–15271. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja2056159.
- (78) Qiu, D.; Qiu, M.; Ma, R.; Zhang, Y.; Wang, J. Nitrogen Group Retaining Reaction in the Transformation of Diazo Compounds. *Acta Chimi Sin* 2016, 74 (6). https://doi.org/10.6023/A16030153.
- (79) Li, J.; Sha, Y. A Convenient Synthesis of Amino Acid Methyl Esters. *Molecules* 2008, 13 (5), 1111–1119. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules13051111.
- (80) N. E. Searle. Ethyl Diazoacetate. Organic Syntheses 1944, 24, 56. https://doi.org/10.15227/orgsyn.024.0056.
- (81) Williams, D. B. G.; Lawton, M. Drying of Organic Solvents: Quantitative Evaluation of the Efficiency of Several Desiccants. *Journal of Organic Chemistry* 2010, 75 (24), 8351–8354. https://doi.org/10.1021/jo101589h.
- (82) Simas, A. B. C.; Pereira, V. L. P.; Barreto, C. B.; De Sales, D. L.; De Carvalho, L. L. An Expeditious and Consistent Procedure for Tetrahydrofuran (THF) Drying and Deoxygenation by the Still Apparatus. *Quim Nova* 2009, *32* (9), 2473–2475. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0100-40422009000900042.
- (83) De Meijere, A.; Khlebnikov, A. F.; Sünnemann, H. W.; Frank, D.; Rauch, K.; Yufit, D. S. Convenient Access to Various 1-Cyclopropylcyclopropane Derivatives. *European J Org Chem* 2010, No. 17, 3295–3301. https://doi.org/10.1002/ejoc.201000209.
- (84) Nishihara, Y.; Miyasaka, M.; Okamoto, M.; Takahashi, H.; Inoue, E.; Tanemura, K.; Takagi, K. Zirconocene-Mediated Highly Regio- and Stereoselective Synthesis of Multisubstituted Olefins Starting from 1-

Alkynylboronates. *J Am Chem Soc* **2007**, *129* (42), 12634–12635. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja075234y.

- (85) Abdurrahman, J.; Wahyuningrum, D.; Achmad, S.; Bundjali, B. Synthesis of Dipeptide Benzoylalanylglycine Methyl Ester and Corrosion Inhibitor Evaluation by Tafel Equation. *Sains Malays* 2011, 40 (9), 973–976.
- (86) Kehner, R. A.; Hewitt, M. C.; Bayeh-Romero, L. Expanding Zirconocene Hydride Catalysis: In Situ Generation and Turnover of ZrH Catalysts Enabling Catalytic Carbonyl Reductions. ACS Catal 2022, 12 (3), 1758– 1763. https://doi.org/10.1021/acscatal.2c00079.
- (87) Pez, G. P.; Armor, J. N. Chemistry of Titanocene and Zirconocene. *Advances in Organometallic Chemistry* 1981, 19 (C). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-3055(08)60362-7.
- (88) Grossman, R. B. The Art of Writing Reasonable Organic Reaction Mechanisms, Third Edition; 2019. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-28733-7.
- (89) Rekhroukh, F.; Estevez, L.; Mallet-Ladeira, S.; Miqueu, K.; Amgoune, A.; Bourissou, D. β-Hydride Elimination at Low-Coordinate Gold(III) Centers. J Am Chem Soc 2016, 138 (36), 11920–11929. https://doi.org/10.1021/jacs.6b07035.
- (90) Wang, S. Y. S.; Abboud, K. A.; Boncella, J. M. Synthesis and Mechanistic Investigations of the Decomposition of β-Hydrogen Containing W(VI) Dialkyl Complexes: β-H Elimination vs. β-H Abstraction. In *Polyhedron*; Elsevier Ltd, 2004; Vol. 23, pp 2733–2749. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.poly.2004.09.002.
- (91) Broene, R. D. Transition Metal Alkyl Complexes: Reductive Dimerization of Alkenes and Alkynes. In *Comprehensive Organometallic Chemistry II*; 1995. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-008046519-7.00114-3.
- (92) Kreuzer, F.; Aubele, A.; Mena-Osteritz, E.; Bäuerle, P. Synthesis and Reactivity of Dithienopyrazines. *European J Org Chem* 2023, 26 (13). https://doi.org/10.1002/ejoc.202300023.
- (93) Zhan, M.; Zhang, S.; Zhang, W. X.; Xi, Z. Diazo Compounds as Electrophiles to React with 1,4-Dilithio-1,3-Dienes: Efficient Synthesis of

1-Imino-Pyrrole Derivatives. *Org Lett* **2013**, *15* (16), 4182–4185. https://doi.org/10.1021/ol401878q.

- (94) Rosenthal, U. Take a "Snapshot" of New Syntheses, Reactions, and Characterizations from Unusual Unsaturated Ring Strained Group 4 Metallacycles. *Chemistry - A European Journal* 2021, 27 (71), 17751– 17760. https://doi.org/10.1002/chem.202102855.
- (95) Copéret, C.; Negishi, E. ichi; Xi, Z.; Takahashi, T. Reaction of 3-Zircona-1-Cyclopentenes and Zirconacyclopentanes with Aldehydes. A Selective and Convenient Synthesis of 4-Penten-1-Ols, (Z)-5-Iodo-4-Penten-1-Ols, and Related Alkanols. *Tetrahedron Lett* **1994**, *35* (5). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0040-4039(00)75793-5.
- (96) Vidal, F.; Chen, E. Y. X. Reactivity of Bridged and Nonbridged Zirconocenes toward Biorenewable Itaconic Esters and Anhydride. *Organometallics* 2017, 36 (15), 2922–2933. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.organomet.7b00358.
- (97) Fañanás, F. J.; Rodríguez, F. Cross-Coupling-Elimination Reactions Mediated or Catalyzed by Zirconium Complexes: A Valuable Tool in Organic Synthesis. *European J Org Chem* 2008, No. 8, 1315–1329. https://doi.org/10.1002/ejoc.200700939.